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of friendly administrations in his efforts to keep the telcons unavailable at the Library of 

Congress.  

This period also coincided with when Kissinger was using memoranda of 

conversations based upon the transcripts to write his memoirs from the Nixon era, White 

House Years (1979) and Years of Upheaval (1982).
152

  The two volumes were “a work 

evidently written with great care to his [Kissinger’s] place in history and to perpetuating 

his image as the consummate strategic thinker who executed sweeping and highly 

successful radical shifts in American foreign policy,” wrote Montgomery.
153

  However, if 

the transcripts were released they might “support an alternative assessment.”
154

  

Nevertheless, Montgomery concluded that Kissinger did not seek to permanently keep 

the transcripts from the historical record.  Based upon the terms of Kissinger’s donation 

to the Library of Congress, “[h]e appeared more intent on sealing the documents until the 

extraordinary passions of the Watergate and Vietnam years had subsided and until after 

his death,” wrote Montgomery.
155

    

The telcons became known to the wider public during the Democratic 

administration of Bill Clinton, which was much more open to reviewing and releasing the 

transcripts which had long been dormant at the Library of Congress.  After Nixon’s death 

in 1994, many of his presidential materials were released by the National Archives, 

including Kissinger’s National Security office files which contained copies of a small 

portion of the transcripts.
156

  Then in 1997 the State Department began publishing some 
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such actions by groups including Meir Kahane’s Jewish Defense League.
109

  Dobrynin 

also credited the US State Department for providing security and recommending Soviet 

diplomats and their families exercise extreme caution.
110

 

 Emigration embarrassed the Soviets because it suggested that communism had 

failed to create the ideal society.  Kissinger understood this well.  For his part, Dobrynin 

knew the saliency of human rights to the American public.  By opting for quiet 

diplomacy both could feel free to reply to each other’s requests on emigration and other 

issues favorably without appearing to “capitulate.”
111

  Kissinger described how he and 

Dobrynin handled the issue privately: 

No formal requests were made, and no formal responses were given.  

Soviet actions were noted without being acknowledged.  Indeed, the 

emigration practices of the Soviet Union were steadily improving, though 

no claim to that effect was ever made by Washington.  The Nixon 

Administration stuck to these ground rules so meticulously that it never 

claimed any credit for improving Soviet emigration practices-even during 

election campaigns-…”
112

 

 

As détente’s fortunes flourished via the Kissinger-Dobrynin backchannel, so did 

those of Soviet Jews wishing to emigrate.  From 1970-1973 the numbers increased 

steadily: 1,000 in 1970, 15,000 in 1971, 30,000 in 1972, and finally 35,000 in 1973.
113

  

The 65,000 emigrants from 1972-1973 corresponded to when détente was at its height.
114

  

Moscow’s change in policy probably resulted from several factors including a desire for a 

“safety valve” to release pressure from a “disaffected but homogenous” group of 
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citizens.
115

  The expectation that Washington would reciprocate with some future gesture 

of its own could have also played a part.
116

  Nevertheless, many Soviet Jews continued to 

suffer from delays, harassment, and refusals.
117

   

Jewish Emigrants from the Soviet Union, 1970-1975 

 

 However, if the issue arose outside of the backchannel then Kissinger and 

Dobrynin handled it quite differently.  When a staff member brought a letter calling 

attention to the plight of Soviet Jews directly to Nixon, Dobrynin expressed his concern 

to Kissinger.  After some investigation, the following discussion occurred on February 

15, 1972: 

K: …I have looked into this matter of the letter about the Jewish problem. 

 

D: Yes. 

 

K: There is no consolation in the result, but I can assure you it was the 

result of an overeager staff man who brought it in without explaining what 

it was about.  I can tell you privately that the President is extremely angry. 

 

D: I don’t care about the specifics of it. 

 

K: I just wanted you to know.  If we want to needle you, we will find 

another way to do it. 
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D: It creates some publicity which goes back home. 

 

K: You let your people know about this. 

 

D: I would like it not to happen in the future.  In this particular case, it 

doesn’t matter. 

 

K: It will not happen in the future without my telling you first.
118

 

 

Kissinger’s embarrassment as well as Dobrynin’s annoyance at what they both viewed as 

a violation of diplomatic etiquette was readily apparent.  They had an understanding that 

such issues would be handled privately, through the backchannel.  Kissinger assured 

Dobrynin that in the future he would notify him of anything posing such potential 

negative publicity.  However, “the Jewish problem” was not going away. 

Based upon an agreement signed by Nixon and Brezhnev at the June, 1972, 

Moscow summit, the Trade Reform Act of 1972 held numerous potential benefits for 

both superpowers.  The USSR would obtain Most Favored Nation (MFN) trading status 

and thereby benefit from lower tariffs on Russian imports including vodka, while the US 

would finally receive $722 million owed from the World War II lend-lease program.
119

   

Although MFN only provided the same trading benefits which over one hundred other 

nations enjoyed, Kissinger believed that to the Soviets it conferred legitimacy, respect, 

and above all, equality.
120

  Nixon and Kissinger also calculated that MFN could be 

offered as a quid pro quo in exchange for Soviet restraint internationally.
121

  Both 
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countries would prosper from a greater exchange of goods, with the added benefit for the 

US of increasing democracy’s influence behind the Iron Curtain.
122

   

However, on August 3 Moscow began charging a 25,000 exit tax on emigrants.
123

  

The Soviets justified the tax as a means to reimburse the government for educational 

expenses.
124

  Once again, Kissinger’s nemesis Senator Jackson entered the debate.  On 

October 4 he and seventy-one co-sponsors introduced an amendment to the trade bill.
125

  

What would become known as the Jackson-Vanik Amendment mandated that the United 

States would only award MFN status to countries with non-market based economies 

provided that they removed their emigration restrictions.
126

  The intent behind the 

legislation was primarily to force the Soviet Union to allow its Jewish citizens to leave 

the country.  Democratic Representative Charles Vanik of Ohio introduced his 

corresponding bill in the House on October 10.
127

   

The White House had no official comment on the tax.
128

  However, the public had 

much to say.  Special consultant to the president on Israel and Jewish affairs Leonard 

Garment told Kissinger, “The Russian issue is flooding my desk.”
129

  Kissinger called the 

American Jewish community “self-serving.”
130

  To him Jackson-Vanik represented a 

cynical attempt to “extend the conventional criticism of Nixon’s alleged moral 
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insensitivity into new areas of policy, including foreign affairs, in which Nixon’s 

competence had heretofore gone unchallenged.”
131

   

To Dobrynin, the amendment was part of “a vitriolic but politically sophisticated 

campaign” which damaged American-Soviet relations from then on.
132

  However, he also 

could not understand why his government would not remove its restrictions on Jewish 

emigration.  His believed that doing so would have eliminated a persistent source of 

conflict with the West and particularly the Americans.
133

  He also claimed that the 

Politburo never gave a reasonable answer when queried privately on the issue.
134

  Some 

Soviet leaders held to Stalin’s view of emigrants as traitors, others argued that Jews had 

knowledge of state secrets due to their work in scientific fields, and some feared that 

increased Jewish emigration would alienate Moscow’s allies in the Arab world.
135

  

Indeed, the Kremlin was probably eager to return to the good graces of Egypt in 

particular after its president, Anwar Sadat, expelled all Soviet troops in July.
136

  

However, with remarkable candor Dobrynin opined that the real reason for restricting 

Jewish emigration derived from Moscow’s fear “of emigration in general (irrespective of 

nationality or religion) lest an escape hatch from the happy land of socialism seem to 

offer a degree of liberalization that might destabilize the domestic situation.”
137

   

Ultimately, the answer to the mystery of the exit tax may lie with Politburo 

member and Chief Party Ideologist Mikhail Suslov.  According to biographer Serge 

Petroff, “Suslov continued to remind the leadership that the Soviet Union had an 
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ideological rather than a national basis for its existence.”
138

  Consequently, even at a state 

of détente Suslov tended to advocate for an increased emphasis on the ideological 

struggle with the West in order to inoculate the Soviet Union from the corrupting effects 

of greater Western contact.
139

  Dobrynin reported that Suslov had been left in charge in 

Moscow while Brezhnev and Gromyko were vacationing on the Black Sea.
140

  He 

suspected that Suslov personally opposed both détente and relaxing emigration rules and 

so agreed to the tax.
141

   

Despite Kissinger’s and Dobrynin’s previous success in the backchannel, Senator 

Jackson would not be satisfied with quiet diplomacy when it came to human rights – he 

believed that American advocacy had to be unambiguous.
142

  Dobrynin claimed that 

Jackson sought victory over the Soviets in order to further his political career.
143

  

Meanwhile Kissinger called it a “pity” that although the White House and the Senator 

had the same goals on emigration, they could not agree upon the same “tactics.”
144

  

Regardless of how well-intentioned he may have been, Jackson undoubtedly had political 

motives as well for introducing his amendment.  In addition to attracting Jewish votes in 

his home state, he had plans to run for president in 1976.
145

  Likewise, co-sponsor Vanik 

served many Jewish constituents in his Cleveland, Ohio congressional district.
146
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 As the controversy intensified, Treasury Secretary George Schultz was scheduled 

to visit Moscow in the spring of 1973 for talks on expanding trade.  On March 12, 

Dobrynin and Kissinger discussed the visit as well as the need to keep talk of Jewish 

emigration quiet because of its potentially detrimental effects on détente: 

D: You know, we could discuss right now why I decided to call you, not 

because of the situation, but chiefly I received a telegram from Brezhnev 

in connection with [what] you asked about Shultz [sic]. 

 

K: Yeah. 

 

D: he just ask[ed] me to tell you that definitely he is going to receive 

Shultz. 

 

K: That’s a good idea. 

 

D: So, you may be sure that Brezhnev will receive Shultz.  And he said to 

me, I told you so, so what is the question. 

 

K: Evidently, Anatol, it might be just as well if you didn’t raise the Jewish 

question with Shultz. 

 

D: Don’t raise with Shultz. 

 

K: Don’t raise it, because, unless there is something positive you want to 

say, because if you do raise and then you see, he is not quite as devious as 

I am, he may report something honestly which causes us trouble with the 

Congress. 

 

D: I see, okay.
147

 

 

As the Treasury Secretary making an official visit, Schultz operated outside of the 

backchannel and could be called upon to comment publicly or even testify before 

Congress about the trip.  Kissinger’s concern for avoiding any public mention of Jewish 

emigration led him to ask Dobrynin to not bring up the subject with Schultz.  While one 

could question the ethics of conducting foreign policy in this manner, it demonstrated 
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how Kissinger understood Soviet sensitivity vis-à-vis their domestic policies.  It also 

showed both men’s dedication to quiet diplomacy in order to protect detente. 

 As the White House sought a compromise with the Senate on MFN, Dobrynin 

persistently inquired about its progress.  On March 17, Kissinger explained that he could 

see the light at the end of the tunnel, provided he had Dobrynin’s permission to pass on a 

letter to the senators specifying proposed Soviet compromises: 

K: Well, on the MFN I can already answer. 

 

D: Yes, what is answer. 

 

K: We think it will go through the House in the first week of August. 

 

D: I see. 

 

K: And in the Senate, oh, sometime during October we think. 

 

Then later… 

 

K: We can give them the text you gave us[?] 

 

D: I think it is better to say, not to give them the text. 

 

K: Not to give it.  Just to read it. 

 

D: I think you can give just a summary, that’s all. 

 

K: Okay, fine.
148

 

 

Although willing to deliver concessions on emigration, perhaps even tentatively agreeing 

to a certain amount of exit visas to be granted annually, Dobrynin resisted putting them in 

writing, perhaps out of fear that the information could leak.  The Soviet Union did not 

want it to appear as if thousands of its citizens desired to leave the country. 

Initially it appeared to the White House that the exit tax alone had caused the 

controversy.
149

  Remove the tax, and you removed the problem.  On March 30, Dobrynin 
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delivered a private message from the Soviet leadership to Kissinger asserting that 

emigration was an internal affair and criticizing the “’noisy campaign’” which was 

“’artificial and ill-meaning.’”
150

  Nevertheless, the Soviets would end the emigration tax 

except for certain circumstances related to security concerns.
151

  On April 16, Kissinger 

and Dobrynin agreed on the exact wording of a statement announcing the suspension of 

the exit tax which was then submitted to Congress.
152

   

 Two days later, Nixon announced at the White House that the Soviets had agreed 

to drop the exit tax for Soviet Jews wishing to immigrate to Israel.
153

  However, 

Kissinger alleged that due to the brewing Watergate scandal Congress was not in the 

mood for compromise.
154

  Indeed, several politicians may have already smelled blood in 

the water and been thinking ahead to the 1974 Congressional mid-term elections.  

However, the White House did not help itself by excluding Congress from negotiations 

with the Kremlin over the issue.
155

  Consequently, Jackson and numerous others 

increased their demands to include a guaranteed minimum number of exit visas and eased 

emigration restrictions for all Soviet citizens, not just Jews.
156

  According to Dobrynin, 

this suggested that the number of people wishing to leave the Soviet Union was 

endless.
157

  Such an implication could only be taken extremely negatively by Moscow.     

The White House remained undeterred.  The commitment to obtaining MFN for 

the Soviets was such that Nixon had Kissinger tell Israeli Prime Minister Golda Meir to 
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stay out of the debate.
158

  On April 22 Kissinger discussed with Dobrynin a recent 

conversation he had held with the Israeli ambassador: 

D: …you said that you spoke with the Ambassador about this— 

 

K: Oh, oh, well, I told the Ambassador that we would take very serious 

measures if they obstructed MFN.  And between you and me, even going 

to airplane deliveries. 

 

D: That you mentioned him directly this way? 

 

K: Yeah.  I mean, don’t publish this. 

 

D: No, Henry.  But did you ever see anything published which we discuss 

with you? 

 

K: No.   

 

D: I don’t know anything we have. 

 

K: No, but I mean, we were very tough.  And if you could see the reaction 

of the Jewish leaders, I think that it was not uninfluenced by them. 

 

D: All right, Henry. 

 

K: We will push it through, Anatol.
159

 

 

Kissinger’s statement to the Israeli ambassador was probably not an idle threat.  When 

war broke out between the Arabs and Israelis that October, the White House did not 

respond with an airlift right away due to concern that such a move would hurt 

Washington’s role as a peacemaker thereafter.  Furthermore, when the Israelis later 

appeared to be advancing on Cairo en route to a total victory, Nixon and Kissinger 

compelled them to withdraw.  Consequently, it seems highly likely that Kissinger would 

indeed punish Tel Aviv if they interfered with MFN.  Not even the protests of America’s 
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most important strategic ally in the Middle East would stop Kissinger from coming 

through for Dobrynin on this prime carrot of détente. 

 The second Nixon-Brezhnev summit was held in May, 1973, in Washington as 

well as at Nixon’s “Western White House” in San Clemente, California.  Dobrynin 

blamed the MFN-emigration controversy in part for the failure of this second meeting to 

advance American-Soviet economic ties.
160

   

Meanwhile, negotiations continued in the backchannel.  On July 3, Kissinger 

spoke to Dobrynin from San Clemente.
161

  While in California, several prominent Jewish 

leaders had asked to visit with him, but Kissinger insisted on meeting in Washington 

instead.
162

  Kissinger sought Dobrynin’s help in obtaining emigration concessions to 

relay to Jewish leaders at a forthcoming meeting in order to rally support for MFN: 

HK: And you see frankly if there is anything…that I could tell them then it 

would be worth seeing them and it would help with the legislation. 

 

AD: I think it would be better to delay it when you will be back here. 

 

HK: Well, I’ll certainly—I tell you now I will not see them here, because I 

don’t want to create the impression that we are having a special meeting 

that requires a long trip…I’m wondering Anatol whether you could find 

out for me by the time I get back next week whether there is anything at 

all that I can say… 

 

AD: Okay, I check with him [Brezhnev] once more, but now he is in 

Moscow—I will check with him and what he really has in mind… 
163

 

 

About two weeks later on the 19th, Dobrynin responded to a query by Kissinger 

concerning a list of Jewish families which had been passed along to the Soviets: 

D: …this is answer about the question you raise yesterday.  First about this 

list of some Jewish families. 
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K: Yes. 

 

D: …the final decision is not yet taken because they vote one way or 

another over security restrictions. 

 

K: How many? 

 

D: More than 80.  Around 80 or 90, something like that.  They are now – 

their applications are being considered in the light of developments. 

 

K: Can I say that?  Oh, that explains the discrepancy in numbers? 

 

D: You may say, but it is not decided whether they will give them 

permission or not.  So this is the only thing I could tell, but you may say
164

 

 

The Soviets often refused visas to citizens on the basis of security restrictions.  How 

legitimate these claims were was debatable, but what is clear is that détente drove the 

Politburo to consider such requests in much greater numbers than ever before. 

 The next Congressional session brought more developments.  On September 14, 

1973, Andrei Sakharov – dissident, physicist, and father of the Soviet hydrogen bomb –

sent an impassioned letter to the US Congress urging passage of Jackson-Vanik: 

…there are tens of thousands of citizens in the Soviet Union – Jews, 

Germans, Russians, Ukrainians, Lithuanians, Armenians, Estonians 

Latvians, Turks and members of other ethnic groups – who want to leave 

the country and who have been seeking to exercise that right for years and 

for decades at the cost of endless difficulty and humiliation.  You know 

that prisons, labor camps, and mental hospitals are full of people who have 

sought to exercise this legitimate right.
165

 

 

Then in a refutation of the Kissinger-Dobrynin approach, Sakharov added that “’quiet 

diplomacy’” could only help “a few individuals in Moscow and some other cities.”
166

  

Finally, he called on “the Congress of the United States, reflecting the will and the 
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traditional love of freedom of the American people,” to pass the amendment.
167

  About 

two weeks later on the 27th, historian Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr. wrote a piece for the 

Wall Street Journal explaining that although he supported increased US-Soviet trade, 

Sakharov’s endorsement of Jackson-Vanik had swayed him.
168

  “’Always trust the man 

on the firing line,’” wrote Schlesinger.
169

    

The October, 1973 Arab-Israeli War temporarily placed the trade bill on the back-

burner.  Moscow’s desire for MFN led the Soviets to continue allowing Jewish 

emigration over the objections of the Arabs.
170

  However, the Soviet role in arming the 

Egyptians and Syrians against Israel may have provided Jackson with the added 

encouragement and support from the public he needed in order to continue pushing for 

his amendment.
171

   

On December 11, the Jackson-Vanik Amendment easily passed in the House 319 

to 80.
172

  On the 26
th
 Nixon relayed to Dobrynin his “profound contempt” for the 

“liberals, Zionists, and conservatives” who had blocked MFN.
173

  “We must not let 

temporary setbacks, no matter how discouraging, interfere with or poison the relations 

between the two superpowers,” he added.
174

  The next stop was the Senate, and if it did as 

well there Congress would have more than enough votes to override a presidential veto.   
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By 1974, the controversy over Jewish emigration had held up the trade bill for 

over a year.  After being armed by Dobrynin with the latest Soviet statistics on Jewish 

emigration, Kissinger met with Jackson on March 6.
175

  Kissinger proposed a 

compromise whereby the Soviets would receive MFN, but the Senate would have the 

right to review Moscow’s emigration policies on a regular basis.
176

  Jackson rejected the 

idea, instead insisting on a written guarantee of dramatic increases in emigration.
177

  

After months of further negotiations, Kissinger phoned Dobrynin on June 5 to 

report that he might have a deal with Jackson as well as Democratic Senators Jacob Javits 

of New York and Abraham Ribicoff of Connecticut.  When it took several rings before 

Dobrynin answered, Kissinger could not resist one of his verbal jabs: 

K: There’s almost no sense tapping you anymore if you don’t pick it up.[!] 

I had breakfast this morning with Jackson, Javits and Ribicoff.  You know, 

it’s a little premature, but I think we will be successful. 

 

D: Along what lines? 

 

K: Along the lines we discussed yesterday. 

 

D: For trade? 

 

K: For trade and credits. 

 

D: Along what lines? 

 

K: Well, the 45,000. 

 

D: 45? 

 

K: Well, the number… 

 

D: Oh, you mean about this… 

 

K: Jewish question. 
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Then later: 

 

K: …he will modify his amendments so that MFN is possible and credits 

will not be restricted.  You know with a review maybe every year. 

 

D: I understand.  When we meet next time you are going to show me this 

letter. 

 

K: I will not send the letter without discussing it with you. 

 

D: OK.  In one way or the other it’s better to get rid of all these issues.
178

 

 

Dobrynin’s patience was clearly growing thin.  However, Kissinger believed he had 

finally reached a compromise with Jackson and the other senators whereby the Soviets 

would get MFN, but the senate would retain the right to an annual review based upon 

emigration statistics.  The agreement would be summarized in a letter to Jackson, which 

Kissinger would give Dobrynin an opportunity to preview.  Consequently, there would be 

no surprises or misunderstandings.   

 Despite their best efforts, circumstances continued to work against Kissinger and 

Dobrynin.  On June 30 the President’s ability to use export-import bank credits came up 

for Congressional renewal.
179

  Senators Adlai Stevenson III of Illinois, Jackson, and 

eighteen others introduced the Stevenson Amendment placing a $300 million limit on all 

US export-import bank loans to the Soviet Union with any loan over $50 million being 

subject to a possible review.
180

  The final version of the amendment prohibited the use of 

funds for development and energy as well.
181
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The Jackson and Stevenson amendments were draining Moscow’s incentive for 

cooperating on human rights issues.  Even if the Soviets met the Senate’s numbers on 

emigration and thereby obtained MFN, the amount of money they could borrow for trade 

would be tightly controlled.
182

  If the White House could deliver neither MFN nor credits 

to the Soviets, Nixon and Kissinger would be without two of their main instruments for 

conducting détente.  In Kissinger’s view, by this time “[the] carrot had for all practical 

purposes ceased to exist.”
183

 

 On August 9, 1974, Gerald Ford became the thirty-eighth President of the United 

States after the Watergate affair forced Nixon to resign.  According to Gates, one of the 

things the Soviets liked most about working with Nixon and Kissinger was that they 

“never tried to cause the Soviets trouble at home, to question seriously their internal 

policies or the legitimacy of their rule.”
184

  However, after Nixon exited Gates saw a shift 

in US policy.
185

  This probably had little to do with any changes implemented by Ford.  

Due to Vietnam and the Watergate scandal, power in Washington had been moving 

steadily away from the presidency and toward Congress for at least a year by this time 

and would continue to do so throughout the 1970s. 

On August 14, Dobrynin gave Ford an “unwritten guarantee” that 50,000 Soviet 

Jews would be permitted to emigrate every year.
186

  (Ford stated that the figure was 

55,000).
187

  Dobrynin refused to put it in writing due to fear that Jackson would use the 
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information for political propaganda.
188

  The next day, the President attempted to break 

the impasse over Jackson-Vanik and MFN by inviting Jackson, Javits, and Ribicoff to the 

Oval Office for breakfast.
189

  Ford relayed Dobrynin’s assurances and Jackson 

reciprocated by lowering his demand to 75,000 after having been as high as 100,000.
190

   

Although Javits and Ribicoff were satisfied with Dobrynin’s word, Jackson still 

insisted that any guarantee had to be in writing.
191

  According to Ford, Jackson accused 

the White House of “being too soft on the Russians.”
192

  Nevertheless, they finally 

reached a deal on October 18 whereby the Senator would alter his legislation based upon 

an “understanding” that the Soviets would provide 60,000 exit visas annually.
193

   

Jackson, who had presidential aspirations, felt compelled to make the news 

public.  When he announced the deal before the press on the White House lawn, the 

Soviets were outraged.
194

  Kissinger told Dobrynin that the President was furious with 

Jackson, even going so far as to say that the Senator had “’behaved like a swine.’”
195

  

Although the White House later explained that the Soviets had never agreed to an exact 

number, the damage had been done.
196

 

Things began to move quickly.  On December 3 Kissinger testified before the 

Senate Finance Committee.
197

  He stressed that the Soviets had not committed to a 

definite number of actual Jewish emigrants.
198

  Nevertheless, on the 13
th
 the Senate 
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passed the trade bill with the amendments, 77-4.
199

  After ironing out differences in the 

conference committee, on December 20 the bill went to the White House.
200

  Ford signed 

it into law on January 3, 1975, and praised it for the economic benefits to both countries, 

but also criticized the legislation for conditions and restrictions uniquely placed upon the 

Soviet Union.
201

  The President revealed that he never seriously considered a veto 

because the legislation had passed both houses comfortably.
202

   

With the passage of Jackson-Vanik, for the first time the United States of America 

had passed legislation promoting international human rights.
203

  It was a significant 

milestone.  However, the Soviets were unimpressed.  On January 10 Dobrynin delivered 

a private statement to Kissinger explaining that Moscow was rejecting Congress’s 

conditions and cancelling the trade agreement altogether.
204

   

 Kissinger was confused by Dobrynin’s statement.  It sounded to him as if the 

Soviets were not merely repudiating the trade agreement, but also détente and everything 

for which he and Dobrynin had been working.  On January 13, Kissinger sought a 

clarification, but Dobrynin’s response only added to his fears:  

K: The one thing that concerns me is that you keep making references to - 

- that you are freed of your obligations in 1972.  I don’t know what 

obligations you are talking about. 

 

D: There are several things there…they consider as it was for three years - 

- unconditional so they consider to terminate it as it is.  So it is probably 

needed to be discussed at a later date of course between our agencies who 

deal with the trade one-by-one.  We didn’t go into the details because you 

know under the ’72 as you remember - - it’s for three years. 
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K: But only those items that were covered in the trade agreement.  I mean 

you don’t mean for example the maritime agreement. 

 

D: No, no.  Only the trade agreement. 

 

K: Okay. 

 

D: So this is within the….. 

 

K: You are not denouncing the SALT agreement? 

 

D: Well, well, I think we will come to that one on a later date - - no, no, I 

am joking.
205

 (italics mine) 

 

This was a most curious exchange.  Kissinger was unclear where the Soviets now stood 

on détente.  Inexplicably, Dobrynin at first saw fit to make a joke and let Kissinger 

believe the worst.  Could this have been a Freudian slip, revealing such disgust amongst 

the Soviet leadership that they had considered abandoning détente?  Moscow must have 

been thoroughly fed up with the American legislative process by this point.  The delay in 

getting SALT I ratified had been bad enough, but this time the Kremlin found Jackson’s 

interference in its internal affairs to be intolerable. 

Dobrynin quickly changed the subject to whether or not President Ford would 

publicly condemn Congress’s action: 

D: Will the President [lead?] with this in general in his own statement or 

he will just only give domestic affairs mostly, I mean on Wednesday. 

 

K: I think the President will not mention it specifically but I will give a 

speech next week in which I will hit it very hard. 

 

D: Where are you going to make it? 

 

K: In Los Angeles. 

 

D: Oh, in Los Angeles. 

 

K: Assuming you don’t keep attacking me in Pravda. 
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D: On the contrary.  A special concession after which everybody will 

listen with special care. 

 

K: Okay, Anatol.
206

 

 

Kissinger’s speech would not criticize the Soviets for disavowing the trade agreement, 

but attack Congress for its actions, which he believed had prompted a diplomatic 

catastrophe.  Dobrynin seemed somewhat disappointed that Kissinger would not be 

condemning the bill from Washington, thereby denying the speech an official 

imprimatur.  Nevertheless, he seemed satisfied with Kissinger’s reaction.  As usual, 

Kissinger told Dobrynin that he could review the official State Department response to 

the Soviet withdrawal before anything was said publicly.
207

  Despite a massive setback 

for détente, both men sought to maintain the relationship as before. 

That was not the end of the controversy.  On February 3, 1975, Kissinger phoned 

New York Times publisher Punch Sulzberger to furiously protest a column by William 

Safire.  A former Nixon speechwriter, Safire had left the administration and later 

discovered that he was one of many who had been wiretapped in an effort to uncover 

leaks.
208

  The column alleged that Kissinger and Dobrynin had conspired to cancel the 

trade agreement due to the passage of the Jackson-Vanik and Stevenson amendments.  In 

doing so, the Soviets would avoid capitulating on Jewish emigration while the White 

House could benefit politically by blaming Congress for interfering with foreign policy.  

Unable to reach Sulzberger, Kissinger phoned editor John Oakes, who attempted to calm 

down the still-irate Secretary of State: 

K: …now today Saffire [sic] accuses the Secretary of State of colluding 

with a Soviet Ambassador for domestic political gain on an issue which 

                                                
206 Ibid. 
207 Ibid. 
208 William Safire, “The Suspicious 17; Essay,” New York Times, 9 August 1973. 



130 

 

again I [initiated?] the whole thing of moving emigration before Jackson 

was ever heard of.  It’s unbelievable that this sort of thing can happen. 

 

O: I have to tell you, I think the Saffire thing was really outrageous 

myself…I want you to know the publisher [Sulzberger] came down stairs 

to see me and we talked about it in another office. 

 

Then later… 

 

K: …no [matter how] much I would oppose a Congressional action, the 

idea that the Secretary of State could collude with a Soviet Ambassador is 

unbelievable. 

 

O: I just cannot defend and have no intention of defending the Saffire 

piece.  I just have to say to you what is the absolute truth and what Punch 

has already said.  The columnist[s] are absolutely independent. 

 

K: OK.  I made my protest and there’s nothing you can do about it. 

 

O: I’m really thinking out loud.  Is there anything you would want to state 

for publication. 

 

K: I don’t think the Secretary of State should write a letter saying no, I did 

not collude with the Soviet Ambassador.
209

 (italics mine) 

 

Safire obviously had his own personal reasons for being resentful towards Kissinger.  

Whether or not there was any truth to the allegation, the fact that the former speech writer 

could charge Kissinger and Dobrynin with collusion was revealing.  After six years of 

working together, there may have been the perception in Washington (as well as in 

Moscow) that they had become too close.  Inevitably, this aroused suspicions among 

certain circles on both sides, and combined with Kissinger’s reputation for practicing 

realpolitik, the possibility of a backchannel conspiracy must not have seemed too far-

fetched to Safire.   

 Another incident just prior to the presidential election in 1976 demonstrated the 

depth of Kissinger’s antipathy to publicly flaying the Soviet Union over human rights.  In 
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one of their face-to-face meetings Kissinger had mentioned to Dobrynin that some Jewish 

visitors were harassed during a recent trip to the Soviet Union.  By mutual consent their 

discussions were always private, but on October 29 Dobrynin read an Associated Press 

story stating that Kissinger had publicly criticized Moscow over the incident: 

D: …The Secretary of State Henry Kissinger today protested the 

harassment of Jews. 

 

K: Total, absolute, outrageous! 

 

D: This is what [State Department spokesman Robert] Funseth said. 

 

K: Well, god damn these bastards.  I said… 

 

D: This is record. 

 

K: I haven’t seen the transcript.  What I told him to say was if the question 

was asked was that our position on this issue was known. 

 

D: But I have an AP ticker… 

 

K: Let me first look at what was actually said will you? 

 

D: All right. 

 

K: I can’t believe that Funseth said this. 

 

D: This was on AP. 

 

K: I don’t believe he said that.  It is inconceivable that he said this.  Let 

me find out and I will call you back in five minutes.
210

 

 

After receiving a transcript, Kissinger immediately called Dobrynin back: 

K: Anatol, there was absolutely nothing said about a protest. 

 

D: But… 

 

K: Wait a minute, I am just telling you what the text says.  It did not 

discuss the harassment of Jewish visitors.  The answer is “the situation of 

Jews in the Soviet Union was discussed.”  Then it says can you be more 
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specific.  And the transcript says “I cannot be more specific.”  That is all 

he said.  All he said was the situation of Jews was discussed. 

 

Then later… 

 

D: The whole implication is that it was a protest of the harassment of 

Jews. 

 

K: Did you read the whole text? 

 

D: No, I didn’t. 

 

K: I think if you read the text… 

 

D: It is very clear… 

 

K: Look, I think if you read the whole transcript. 

 

D: You have never published our meetings and why was it necessary to do 

it today.[?]
211

 

 

Although Dobrynin thought Kissinger had violated a confidence by publicly discussing 

the specifics of one of their private meetings, the conversation between Funseth and the 

AP reporter was actually in the context of the 1976 presidential campaign.  As Kissinger 

explained it, a reporter had asked, “Gov. Carter has expressed concern about what is 

going on about Soviet Jews.  Has the US done anything on this?”
212

  To which Funseth 

replied, “I cannot answer specifically but the Soviet Union is very much aware of our 

position on Soviet Jews.”
213

  The exchange had been in regard to the already much-

publicized issue of Jewish emigration from the Soviet Union, not about the recent 

harassment of some Jewish visitors to the USSR which Kissinger and Dobrynin had 

discussed privately. “I regret it Anatol, I genuinely regret it,” pleaded Kissinger.
214

  Once 

Dobrynin had a proper understanding of the context of the conversation, he calmed down 
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considerably.  As they had done so often before, Kissinger and Dobrynin had cleared up a 

major misunderstanding. 

 This entire episode was telling in that Kissinger displayed far more outrage at 

being accused of publicly criticizing the Soviet Union for human rights abuses than he 

ever showed for the actual abuses themselves.  His belief in quiet diplomacy as the proper 

way to handle these matters would never allow him to embarrass Dobrynin or the Soviets 

in such a public way.  Although morally questionable, this shared view of Kissinger and 

Dobrynin on the impropriety of publicly discussing a nation’s internal affairs was one of 

the main reasons why their relationship worked so successfully over the years.  While the 

Carter administration chose to openly stand on principle and make human rights one of 

the focal points of its foreign policy, Kissinger simply avoided discussing the issue 

publicly in favor of making progress in other areas. 

 What was the correct strategy?   Through private diplomacy in the backchannel, 

Jewish emigration rose dramatically.  When the issue surfaced in official channels, 

however, it triggered a strong reaction from the Soviet leadership and the numbers 

plummeted.  From a high of 35,000 in 1973, emigration numbers dropped to 21,000 in 

1974 and to a mere 13,000 in 1975.
215

  Although the total rebounded to 50,000 in 1979 

after President Carter promised to repeal Jackson-Vanik, in the 1980s virtually all 

emigration stopped.
216

  Nevertheless, over thirty years from 1975-2005 approximately 

1,000,000 Jews emigrated from the Soviet Union to Israel with another 573,000 arriving 

in the United States.
217
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Perhaps the most significant effect of Jackson-Vanik may have been the damage 

done to relaxing tensions.  The period from 1975 to 1980 featured renewed 

confrontations between the United States and the Soviet Union around the world through 

various proxies.  Kissinger was unsure if Soviet moves including increased military 

deliveries to Vietnam and arms to communist forces in Angola were signs of Soviet 

disillusionment with détente or part of a larger long-term strategy.
218

  On the other hand, 

it is doubtful whether the economic benefits of increased trade and credits with the 

United States would have been significant enough to dissuade the Politburo from their 

course of action during the succeeding years anyway.
219

   

 

The Helsinki Accords 

In the summer of 1945 as the Second World War came to an end, the American, 

British, and Soviet allies met in Potsdam, Germany where Moscow received a tacit 

acceptance of its occupation of Eastern Europe.
220

  During the Cold War the Soviets 

sought to ensure their security by maintaining communist regimes in the countries along 

their western border.  After Moscow invaded Czechoslovakia in 1968 to halt anti-Soviet 

reforms by Alexander Dubcek’s government, the Kremlin must have concluded that 

additional measures were necessary.  According to Zubok, Brezhnev feared “’falling 

dominoes’” in Central Europe just as Lyndon Johnson had feared them in Southeast 
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Asia.
221

  Consequently, at Warsaw Pact meetings in October and December of 1969 the 

Soviets proposed a European Security Conference to be held the next year.
222

   

Initially, Moscow hoped to exclude Washington from the meeting.
223

  Kissinger 

speculated that the Soviets may have hoped to split the Western alliance and convince the 

Europeans to abandon NATO in favor of some new security arrangement.
224

  He 

considered this an utter fantasy:  “No NATO country was waiting to substitute the 

declaratory bureaucratic paraphernalia of a European Security Conference for the military 

reality of NATO or the presence of American military forces on the Continent.”
225

  Since 

Washington’s participation was a sine qua non for any security conference, the Nixon 

administration used it as another carrot of détente.
226

  The United States made Soviet 

restraint in the developing world, Western access to Berlin, and mutual reduction of 

armed forces in Europe conditions for its participation.
227

   

In addition to covering security and trade, the conference would also address 

human rights in part to prevent repeats of Soviet crackdowns on dissenters in East 

Germany (1953), Hungary (1956), and Czechoslovakia (1968).
228

  However, during an 

address to the Soviet people during his first visit to Moscow in 1972 Nixon had said, 

“’We believe in the right of each nation to chart its own course, to choose its own system, 

to go its own way, without interference from other nations.’”
229

  Reconciling the 
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contradiction between this statement and upholding international human rights norms 

hampered détente throughout the rest of the decade.     

Although many in the West viewed the Kremlin as a violator of human rights, the 

issue had to be considered in the context of Soviet history.  The loss of twenty million 

people during the Second World War undoubtedly influenced the Soviet view that the 

right to life was the greatest human right of all.  Therefore by preserving peace first and 

foremost, you protected human rights.  For example, during his speech at the European 

Security Conference, Brezhnev remarked, “[W]e would like to stress most emphatically 

one of the inherent features of the foreign policy of the Soviet Union, of the Leninist 

policy of peace and friendship among nations – its humanism.”
230

  Gromyko perhaps 

framed the Soviet position most succinctly: “[O]nly if you are alive can you enjoy all the 

other rights – the right to work, to housing, education, medical service, emigration and so 

on.”
231

 

On March 15, 1973, just months prior to the opening of negotiations, Dobrynin 

inquired about the chance of the US withdrawing its support for a human rights 

commission.  It is not clear if this referred to the inclusion of human rights at the 

European Security Conference itself or more probably to the creation of a group to 

monitor human rights compliance thereafter.  What is certain is that Dobrynin disdained 

any notion of interfering in the Soviet Union’s domestic policies, and Kissinger seemed 

only too happy to oblige: 

D: Have you by chance mention[ed] to your State Department about this 

Human Rights Commission? 
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K: I have talked to [US Ambassador to the Soviet Union Kenneth] Rush.  I 

will have an answer for you within an hour.  He was going to check. 

 

D: Oh, check, yes.  Okay.  Just to know whether he is checking or not on 

stopping all this nonsense.  [italics mine] 

 

K: Right. 
232

 

 

A little over an hour later Kissinger called back: 

 

K: On the Human Rights thing, we cancelled the instructions. 

 

D: They cancelled? 

 

K: Yes. 

 

D: I think this is a very good idea and I will send a telegram to Gromyko 

right away.
233

 

 

Despite Kissinger’s efforts, however, the US government would eventually establish a 

commission to monitor compliance with Helsinki’s human rights provisions.     

In May, diplomats from thirty-three European countries, the United States, and 

Canada commenced negotiations in Geneva, Switzerland for the Conference on Security 

and Cooperation in Europe (CSCE).  By the following year, negotiations had advanced 

sufficiently to consider holding a summit to sign the conference’s concluding 

document.
234

  However, in a conversation with Dobrynin on July 12, 1974, Kissinger 

asked for help on “basket III” – human rights, and downplayed the notion of holding a 

formal summit meeting: 

K: …I want to tell you what we have done on the European Security 

Conference, because I think we have got it in a very positive direction 

now, if you cooperate a little bit on Basket III. 

 

D: Well, do you have any concrete suggestions.?  This is important. 
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K: I think we have broken the back on the Summit idea. 

 

D: Already. 

 

K: I think we are well on the way.  But don’t go around saying this. 

 

D: No.  no, no. 

 

K: No, you won’t, but sometimes your people in the lower regions are not 

as subtle as you are. 

 

D: On this only Gromyko and myself are looking, otherwise he will keep 

this close to his heart.  It is a project he likes very much.
235

 

 

The last thing Dobrynin or Kissinger wanted was to have a summit-level meeting calling 

attention to human rights – an issue they both preferred to handle privately.  In addition, 

Kissinger probably opposed a summit for domestic political reasons.  In May, 1975, as 

the summit approached, he warned Ford that Jackson and others would claim the 

conference was a fraud and a sellout of Eastern Europe.
236

  This would undoubtedly 

agitate Eastern European immigrants, as well as those from the Baltic nations of Latvia, 

Lithuania, and Estonia which could not participate because they had been incorporated 

into the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.
237

  Ford admitted that a sampling of his mail 

from Eastern European émigrés showed 558 opposed to only 32 in favor of the Helsinki 

Accords.
238

  Nevertheless, when the conference was held Kissinger believed Ford felt 

compelled to attend in order to maintain momentum on détente and avoid returning to a 

state of “Cold War.”
239

     

 While Ford sought to preserve détente, Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn endeavored to 

destroy it.  On June 30, George Meany and the AFL-CIO invited the Soviet exile to speak 
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at a Washington dinner.
240

  Kissinger alleged that Solzhenitsyn had been chosen to speak 

by the staunchly anti-communist Meany in order to provide ammunition to opponents of 

the European Security Conference scheduled for the following month.
241

  Speaking of the 

impending Helsinki Final Act, Solzhenitsyn asked: 

What sort of an agreement would this be?  The proposed agreement is the 

funeral of eastern Europe.  It means that western Europe would finally, 

once and for all, sign away eastern Europe, stating that it is perfectly 

willing to see eastern Europe be crushed and overwhelmed once and for 

all, but please don’t bother us.
242

 

 

Then a few days later controversy exploded when Ford had an opportunity to meet with 

Solzhenitsyn.  Kissinger, who professed a deep personal admiration for the Soviet writer, 

claimed that the meeting never took place due to a scheduling conflict, but also argued 

that it would have been a mistake for reasons of policy as well.
243

  Ford noted that both 

Kissinger and Deputy National Security Advisor Brent Scowcroft had recommended 

against a meeting.
244

  Kissinger’s reasoning was that since White House requests 

contributed to Solzhenitsyn’s recent release, if Ford met with him it could appear as 

gloating, particularly just prior to meeting Brezhnev in Helsinki.
245

  Jackson, The Wall 

Street Journal, The New York Times, and many others vociferously disagreed.
246

  

On July 30 and August 1, 1975, representatives of thirty-five countries met in 

Helsinki to sign the Final Act of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe 

(CSCE).
247

  Also known as the Helsinki Accords, the CSCE’s Final Act was intended to 
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improve East-West relations on multiple levels.  Basket I dealt with security, which for 

the Soviets chiefly meant Western acceptance of the communist regimes established in 

Eastern Europe after the Second World War.  Basket II covered economics, science, 

technology, and the environment.
248

  The most controversial issue – human rights – was 

reserved for basket III.  The act obligated countries to: 

…promote and encourage the effective exercise of civil, political, 

economic, social, cultural and other rights and freedoms all of which 

derive from the inherent dignity of the human person…
249

 

 

Finally, a fourth basket outlined procedures to follow up on the first three.
250

   

Dobrynin admitted that for the Soviet Union basket III was a mere formality.  He 

claimed that the prime interests of his government were security and trade and that 

Moscow “did all it could to diminish the significance of the third basket, for it still 

believed humanitarian issues to be domestic matters.”
251

  When Gromyko reported on the 

final document to the Politburo, “they were stunned.”
252

  Chairman of the Supreme 

Soviet Nikolai Podgorny, Chief Ideologist Mikhail Suslov, Prime Minister Alexei 

Kosygin, and KGB leader Yuri Andropov were among those most opposed to the human 

rights provisions, but Brezhnev clamored for the  prestige he would garner back home 

from signing an international agreement ratifying the post-WWII borders of Europe.
253

  

Gromyko alleviated the Politburo’s fears when he explained, “We are masters in our own 
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house,” suggesting that the Soviet leadership retained the right to determine what 

amounted to interference in internal affairs.
254

   

While basket III caused controversy in the Soviet Union, elsewhere the security 

provisions of basket I provoked outrage.  Brezhnev referred to these provisions as “a 

necessary summing up of the political results of World War II.”
255

  The Soviet effort to 

legitimize the boundaries of Eastern Europe dated back to the 1950s.
256

  For Moscow, 

permanent boundaries not only signified security, but also the acceptance of communism 

across half a continent.
257

  Nelson called the Helsinki conference “an East-West 

compromise in the best sense of the word.”
258

  However, David Pryce-Jones charged that 

it had “confirmed the Soviet Union in its invasion and occupation of Eastern and Central 

Europe.”
259

  He likened it to the 1938 Munich Agreement between Britain and Nazi 

Germany which Hitler violated shortly thereafter, prompting World War II: “In effect, the 

Soviet Union had won that stage of the Cold War, and was poised to move to complete 

supremacy over the remaining European democracies.”
260

  East Germany’s Erich 

Honecker believed that his nation had finally achieved legitimacy, and therefore any 

reunification with West Germany “could now only be on Soviet terms.”
261

  Similarly, 
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Poland’s General Wojciech Jaruzelski was convinced that the Communist bloc had never 

been stronger.
262

 

Kissinger viewed Western acknowledgement of the permanency of Europe’s 

borders as a harmless token thrown to the Soviets in order to enhance their sense of 

security.  He argued that the American delegation only conceded that borders could not 

be changed by force, merely echoing the UN Charter.
263

  Not only did this repudiate the 

Brezhnev Doctrine (justifying Soviet military action in order to preserve socialist unity), 

Kissinger believed it helped lead to eventual German reunification in 1990.
264

 

Dissidents behind the Iron Curtain were not as patient as Kissinger.  For them the 

Final Act was much more than a piece of paper.  It signified that human rights had 

become part of international law.
265

  Many viewed it as either a tool for reform in the 

Soviet Union and Eastern Europe or at least a means of escape.
266

  On April 12, 1976, 

eleven Soviet dissidents including Yuri Orlov, Anatoly Sharansky, Ludmilla Alexeeva, 

and Elena Bonner founded a Moscow “Helsinki Watch” group to monitor compliance 

with the accords and report violations.
267

  Orlov explained that although they could not 

directly petition their own government, the Helsinki Final Act would allow them to reach 

the Soviets “’through the governments of other countries.’”
268

  Additional monitoring 
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groups quickly appeared in nearly all of the communist nations.
269

  In theory at least, the 

means were in place to hold all thirty-five signatories accountable for human rights.
270

 

However, the years following the signing of the Helsinki Accords were marked 

by poor follow-up and compliance.  A provision in the Final Act prohibiting interference 

in a country’s internal affairs proved problematic.
271

  Furthermore, because the accords 

emboldened dissenters to go public, this led to more intense persecution.
272

  The seventy-

five open members of monitoring groups in Armenia, Georgia, Lithuania, and other 

countries in addition to Russia and Ukraine either ended up in prison, work camps, 

psychiatric hospitals, or exile.
273

  The Moscow Helsinki Watch group was out of business 

by 1982, and other monitoring groups like the Working Commission to Investigate the 

Abuse of Psychiatry for Political Purposes and the Christian Committee to Defend 

Believers Rights in the USSR faced persecution.
274

  In 1983, the Soviet Union left the 

World Psychiatry Association (WPA) prior to a final judgment on its continued 

membership.
275

  The USSR’s expulsion from the WPA was probably imminent because 

the Soviet state had viewed political opponents as mentally ill ever since Lenin.
276

  

Furthermore, Soviet psychiatric hospitals were under the Ministry of the Interior, not 

Health, and were run like prisons by military officers.
277

   

Numerous reports of the United States Commission on Security and Cooperation 

in Europe (US CSCE or US Helsinki Watch) noted that Warsaw Pact countries had not 
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met the human rights standards agreed to at Helsinki.
278

  For example, in 1985 the 

commission reported: 

Ten years after Helsinki, the Helsinki groups that formed in the USSR 

have virtually disbanded, with more than fifty Helsinki monitors presently 

in prison or exile.  In Czechoslovakia, Charter 77 signatories and their 

families continue to be persecuted…The Polish Helsinki Committee that 

flourished openly during the days when Solidarity was legal has been 

forced underground.
 279 

 

Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, East Germany, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Turkey, the USSR 

and Yugoslavia were listed as the nine worst violators of freedom of speech, the press, 

movement, association, religion, and freedom from political imprisonment and torture.
280

  

The lack of compliance illustrated the great chasm between the American and Soviet 

conceptions of human rights and détente.  Although Kissinger and Dobrynin understood 

this better than anyone else, as the issue became public there was less they could do in the 

backchannel to manage its effects on relaxing tensions.   

 

A Few “Hardship Cases” 

 In addition to the broader topics of Jewish emigration and international human 

rights, Kissinger and Dobrynin handled numerous cases involving individual Soviet and 

American citizens.  Kissinger described “a list of hardship cases” which the White House 

occasionally provided to the Kremlin involving people who had been denied exit visas, 
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separated from their families, or imprisoned – often for political reasons.
281

  He claimed 

that many of the requests were successful, including 550 out of 800 in 1973.
282

   

For example, on June 6, 1972, Kissinger inquired about a Soviet citizen who was 

married to an American.  The conversation did not emphasize humanitarian interests or 

principles, but simply addressed the case in terms of political pressure and its potential 

effects upon detente: 

K: Now let me raise an issue with you.  It has to do with Shapiro.  We are 

not taking an official position.  We’re being deluged with phone calls from 

senators and Senator Jackson called yesterday and he was going to make a 

public statement and I urged him to keep quiet and I just wanted to express 

the view that if this thing could be diffused.  I don’t know a damn thing 

about it.  I don’t know what the fellow did.  I think he’s the fellow who 

married this American girl. 

 

D: But the question was he was subject to the military draft.  He evaded it 

and then he met this American girl and married.  So… 

 

K: He’s not American.  We can’t get into the Soviet side of it.  It’s merely 

a case where we are under a lot of pressure.  This is not going to be made 

a matter of record and we will never even acknowledge that I have even 

talked to you about it. 

 

D: The difficulty is he evaded the military draft.  Well, I will mention to 

my people about what you mentioned. 

 

K: Just mention really we are under terrific Senatorial pressure and we are 

not making an official reference to it.
283

 

 

While Dobrynin could not guarantee anything, he was willing to take the Shapiro case to 

his superiors because he understood the political pressure Kissinger was facing.  

Likewise, Kissinger acknowledged that this was not an ordinary case of a citizen seeking 

to emigrate.  Shapiro had violated Soviet law, thereby complicating the situation further. 
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 Two months later on August 2, Kissinger returned the favor.  The Chairman of the 

Evangelical Baptist Church of the Soviet Union, Alexi Eychkov, was visiting the United 

States and requested to meet with President Nixon.  When Dobrynin expressed his 

concerns, Kissinger did not hesitate: 

K: …we have a request here that the Chairman of the Evangelical Baptist 

Church of the Soviet Union. 

 

D: What’s his name? 

 

K: Schweitkof (sp.?) 

 

D: He is the Chairman of the Baptist Church? 

 

K: In the Soviet Union.  The General Secretary of the Church, Alexi 

Eychkov and two others want to call on the President.  They are traveling 

in this country and the reason for doing it is because the President attended 

his church in Moscow.  Now this is of course an informal request.  Can 

you give me an… 

 

D: When will it be? 

 

K: I think tomorrow or the day after. 

 

D: Tomorrow.  I don’t think it is in general a good idea.  That’s my 

impression. 

 

K: OK, well I’ll stop it.  It’s easy to stop.  I see no reason to do it to tell 

you the truth. 

 

D: Yeh, I think it is not a good idea. 

 

K: No, we just won’t do it.
284

 

 

What did Eychkov want to say to the President?  Was it simply a friendly visit or did he 

seek to lodge a complaint against the Soviet government – perhaps relating to the denial 

of exit visas to Soviet Jews or about the issue of religious freedom in the Soviet Union?  
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Whatever the reason may have been, Dobrynin was opposed to it and that was all that 

mattered to Kissinger. 

A much more prominent case involved a Lithuanian sailor named Simas Kudirka.  

In November, 1970, Kudirka attempted to defect from the Soviet Union by boarding a US 

Coast Guard vessel off of Massachusetts.
285

  Although he sought asylum, the American 

crew permitted Soviet sailors to forcibly retrieve the would-be defector.
286

  The 

Lithuanian was then promptly placed in prison where he had remained for four years.   

The United States government later discovered that Kudirka’s mother had been 

born in the United States, suggesting the possibility of American citizenship.  On August 

14, 1974, President Ford met with Kissinger and Dobrynin in the Oval Office.
287

  Calling 

it “a personal favor,” Ford requested that the Soviets release Kudirka.
288

  Dobrynin said 

he would pass it along to his government.
289

  Over the next two weeks Ford and 

Brezhnev negotiated Kudirka’s release and later his emigration to the United States.
290

  

On August 29, Kissinger thanked his counterpart for his assistance: 

K: I called you because of the Kidirka [sic] case.  We have been informed 

that he [has] been released and the President [wanted] to express his 

appreciation but he didn’t know how to do it. - - in a way that wouldn’t be 

difficult for you. 

 

D: No, no.  Let me make it - - I will give you tomorrow something and we 

can discuss this then.  No appreciation is necessary.  We will talk 

tomorrow about it.  I am expecting a message from Brezhnev. 

 

K: I will tell you what he [Ford] said….they should not make a big fuss 

over it but he wants them to know this was a result of peaceful 
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relations…and this is an example of what can be done without pressure 

but in a ….relationship. 

 

D: I understand.  I understand. 

 

K: He is going to tell some people on the Hill about this…
291

 

 

Once again, quiet diplomacy had come through, and the White House would make sure 

Congress knew it. 

 The Soviets often denied exit visas for security reasons.  These claims could seem 

arbitrary and certainly aroused suspicions in the US, but Moscow’s concerns about a 

Russian woman married to an American professor may have been quite genuine.  

Dobrynin’s candid statements from January 21, 1975, suggested that the woman may 

have been involved with Soviet agents: 

K: There is a professor [name expunged] 

 

D: A difficult case. 

 

K: It is.  Can you tell me personally what the problem is.  He is married to 

a Russian… 

 

D: Yes.  This is the problem.  Only yesterday I received some information 

on this and it is a difficult case.  The [girl] is involved in a certain kind of 

thing dealing with our security.  Don’t mention this please. 

 

K: No, but it will affect my action on this.  He [the American professor] 

has been decent in the manner in which he is pushing it. 

 

D: I know.  There was some White House-State Department influence. 

 

K: I have stayed out of it up to now. 

 

D: One of your assistants mentioned it to me and I checked it with 

Moscow two weeks ago: Just yesterday I received a telegram. 

 

K: I don’t know the [situation?] at all. 
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D: It is nothing for herself as such but she was involved in - - nothing 

specifically about her and I know nothing really.  But this is why I am 

prepared to give you an immediate answer.  Only yesterday I received 

information telling me it is a difficult case.  [The Kremlin?] did note your 

views - - in any case they know about the State Department views.  I am 

being honest with you by telling you I received this information just 

yesterday. 

 

K: You know the problems on humanity grounds.  It is a deserving case.  I 

don’t know the security situation. 

 

D: It is in Moscow.  She worked with some of our agenst [sic] - - I should 

not say this. 

 

K: I understand. 

 

D: That is why they don’t want to let her go.  This is very personal 

information I am giving to you.  She is not a professor really and she is not 

a brilliant girl at all but she knows something because of the character of 

her record.  While in Moscow I will mention it again to Gromyko.
292

 

 

Even in a case such as this where Dobrynin doubted that his government would be able to 

grant Kissinger’s request, he felt confident enough about the interpersonal relationship to 

disclose classified information, perhaps even against his better judgment.    

Finally, when an American received a death sentence in Angola, a Soviet ally, 

Kissinger did not hesitate to call Dobrynin among others.  Although the United States 

supported a rival faction during the Angolan Civil War and had not recognized the new 

Marxist regime, on June 29, 1976, Kissinger inquired if Dobrynin could intervene: 

K: …Now Anatol, I am calling you about this death sentence to the 

American in Angola.  I know it isn’t a question of the Soviet Union having 

anything to do with it directly, but we would appreciate it very much since 

we have no diplomatic relations [with Angola] if our concern could be 

conveyed to the Angolan government or if you could use your influence 

on a personal basis.  I think you know what will happen here if this is 

carried out… 

 

D: How many Americans - - one or two? 
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K: One… 

 

Then later… 

 

D: Well I will send a telegram that you mentioned it… 

 

K: That is right. 

 

D: No specific obligations, but at the same time human concern. 

 

K: O.K. Anatol, thank you very much.
293

 

 

Although Kissinger claimed that he was acting for humanitarian reasons, he also 

intimated that if the American was executed by a Soviet ally, it would further turn 

Congressional and public opinion against détente. 

The telephone transcripts showed that Kissinger and Dobrynin understood the 

domestic political pressure each faced as human rights became an increasingly salient 

issue in US-Soviet relations.  The transcripts also revealed that for the Soviets human 

rights was a domestic affair and therefore out-of-bounds in international diplomacy.  As 

Dobrynin put it in one telephone conversation with Kissinger regarding the European 

Security Conference, the inclusion of human rights was “nonsense.”  This sentiment was 

further demonstrated by the fact that whenever Moscow was accused of transgressing 

human rights norms, its response was not to charge Washington with hypocrisy and cite 

discrimination against African-Americans, women, or the poor in the United States.  

Rather, the Kremlin’s typical answer amounted to: “It’s none of your damn business.”  

 In the short run, the injection of human rights into détente hurt many of the people 

it was meant to protect and strained US-Soviet relations.  Jewish emigration slowed to a 

trickle after Jackson-Vanik.  The Helsinki Accords emboldened many dissidents, but 

brought increased repression as a result.  However, such measures helped to establish a 
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legal and institutional basis for human rights advocates in the East and West to mount a 

successful defense of individual freedoms.  An argument could be made that this not only 

had a positive effect for the state of human rights, but also contributed to delegitimizing 

totalitarian regimes in the Soviet Union and eastern bloc and helped lead to the end of the 

Cold War.  Although Kissinger and Dobrynin had success with their private approach 

while engaging in detente, in the long run publicly standing on principle was the right 

thing to do for reasons of both humanity and policy. 
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CHAPTER 3 

 

Foreign Interventions: Preserving Stability or National Liberation? 

 

“…I believe détente mitigated the succession of crises that differences in ideology and 

geopolitical interest had made nearly inevitable; and I believe we enhanced the national 

interest in the process.” 

-Henry Kissinger
1
 

 

“…the crisis [the October 1973 Arab-Israeli War] demonstrated that tension could be 

localized and prevented from disrupting relations between Washington and Moscow.  

This was the first serious international conflict under the conditions of détente, which was 

strongly affected by it.”  

-Anatoly Dobrynin
2
 

 

During the Cold War the United States and the Soviet Union never fought each 

other directly on the battlefield.  However, they did battle indirectly via proxies in Asia, 

Africa, and Latin America, with the international competition reaching a crescendo in the 

1970s.  These interventions included massive arms sales around the world totaling 

billions of dollars.
3
  When considered alongside cases of direct involvement by one or the 

other superpower as with the Americans in Vietnam or the Soviets in Afghanistan, the 

global extent of the ideological struggle at times resembled a kind of world war.  British 

historian Paul Johnson likened the period to that just preceding World War II: “The 

extension of the Cold War, during the Seventies, to virtually every part of the globe, gave 

the decade the air of chronic insecurity so characteristic of the Thirties – the same 

syndrome of unemployment, economic decay, armaments and aggression.”
4
  However, 

the deterrent effects of the atomic age prevented a head-to-head hot war which could 

have escalated into nuclear Armageddon. 
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 Although the Cold War never turned hot, the conflicting views of relaxing 

tensions nevertheless extended into the military sphere.  The Americans had an all-

encompassing conception of détente and objected when the Soviets intervened in the 

national liberation movements of former European colonies in the developing world.  The 

US viewed these as destabilizing and not in the spirit of relaxing tensions.  However, the 

Soviets saw no contradiction between conducting razryadka with the Americans while 

also assisting young nations in their efforts to achieve true political and economic 

independence from the West.  For the USSR, one had nothing to do with the other. 

In this chapter I will argue that foreign interventions posed the gravest challenge 

to détente and the Kissinger-Dobrynin relationship.  Due to the possibility of direct 

conflict and even war, conversations dealing with the US-Soviet global competition 

dominated the telephone transcripts.  The transcripts showed that even during détente, 

Moscow’s actions and Washington’s reactions were often driven by ideology.  

The chapter is divided into four sections.  First, I will examine the contrasting 

views of scholars regarding whether Cold War foreign interventions represented a 

traditional great power struggle driven by security and economic interests, or an 

ideological conflict between two nations with irreconcilable philosophies.  Then I will 

provide excerpts of telephone conversation transcripts as Kissinger and Dobrynin worked 

to end the Vietnam conflict, were pushed to the nuclear brink during the October, 1973 

Arab-Israeli War, and attempted to save détente and SALT II during the Angolan Civil 

War of 1975-1976. 
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Foreign Interventions and Détente 

 Initially the scholarship on foreign interventions and détente was mixed.  To some 

observers, the US-Soviet competition in the developing world was just another example 

of the great power rivalries which have punctuated world history.  After all, nations and 

empires have always battled in defense of their security and economic interests.  To 

others, foreign interventions during the Cold War represented something else as well – an 

ideological competition.  That is, in some sense both the Soviets and the Americans were 

nations on a mission to promote their respective belief systems.  As archival documents 

have become more readily available since the end of the Cold War, the second view 

appears to have taken hold and formed a consensus amongst scholars. 

 

A Traditional Great Power Rivalry? 

Ever since Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels wrote that communists “openly 

declare that their ends can be attained only by the forcible overthrow of all existing social 

conditions…they have a world to win,”
 5

 there had been some who feared a radical 

communist conspiracy to take over the globe.  Adding to these concerns was the phrase 

“world revolution” which appeared frequently in the writings and speeches of various 

Soviet leaders over the years.   
 

However, George F. Kennan, considered the father of containment, wrote in 1977 

that such language simply functioned as part of “the millennial hope” of a “secular 

religion” he called “Russian communism.”
6
  The security of the Russian state and the 
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survival of the regime were the paramount concerns for Moscow, asserted Kennan.
7
  

Nevertheless, he added that China’s badgering about “betraying true Communist 

principles” occasionally drove the Soviet Union to make provocative declarations and 

take international actions in order to re-establish its revolutionary Marxist credentials.
8
 

In 1980 Henry Bienen argued that for the Americans the decision to intervene in 

the developing world was based upon whether a policymaker viewed a conflict from a 

globalist or a regionalist perspective.  Bienen explained that globalists focused upon 

“behaviors, motivations, and threats of the Soviet Union or other large powers.”
9
  They 

tended to emphasize security concerns over economic interests.
10

  Meanwhile, 

regionalists sought to understand a local conflict apart from a Cold War or global context, 

and then determine if US interests were at stake.
11

  In their view, American economic 

influence in terms of trade, foreign aid, and corporate investment was so great that it 

could withstand local political changes.
12

 

Several scholars in the mid-1980s also claimed that security concerns led to 

conflicts between the United States and the Soviet Union in the developing world.  R.P. 

Barston explained that one of Brezhnev’s most pressing goals was solidifying the post-

war boundaries of Eastern Europe, particularly the German Democratic Republic (East 

Germany).
13

  In addition, a continuing deep fear of and antipathy towards the People’s 
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Republic of China drove Soviet efforts to form alliances for its safety and protection.
14

  

Meanwhile, Gelman described the Politburo as “determined to ensure the ‘irreversibility’ 

of its authority,” by maintaining stability “inside the Soviet Union, in Eastern Europe, 

and also in such areas, particularly those adjacent to the USSR, as history and the balance 

of forces may from time to time reveal.”
15

  Nevertheless, both Barston and Gelman 

conceded that ideology played a role in Soviet foreign policy as well.  Barston wrote that 

finding and exploiting opportunities to continue the class struggle and achieve victories 

for socialism remained an objective at a “formal and operational level.”
16

  Similarly, 

Gelman said that the Soviets sought American acknowledgment of Moscow’s right “to 

make incremental use of emerging opportunities and capabilities in order to become a 

fully global actor.”
 17

  

In a similar vein, S. Neil MacFarlane blamed US-Soviet geopolitical conflicts on 

differing conceptions of regional security.
18

  According to MacFarlane, the views of each 

superpower in this regard were “incompatible,” and led to competition in Asia, Africa, 

and Latin America.
19

  He asserted that US foreign policy towards developing nations 

emphasized stability, non-violent reform through “existing political institutions” or 

“orderly constitutional renovation,” and a belief that where instability existed, it was 

caused by external (usually communist) forces and not internal conditions.
20

  In contrast, 

MacFarlane claimed that the Soviet Union viewed instability in under-developed 
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countries as “unavoidable and, in general, desirable,” in order to achieve national 

liberation.
21

   

More recently, Jeffrey W. Taliaferro argued that Cold War foreign interventions 

were nothing new.  He noted that world powers had always undertaken “risky diplomatic 

and military interventions in the periphery,” which he defined as “regions that do not 

directly threaten the security of a great power’s homeland.”
22

  The reason was “leaders’ 

aversion to losses in their state’s relative power, international status, or prestige.”
23

  

Furthermore, the fear of such losses was so great that many countries stayed the course 

“even when they incur[red] mounting political, economic, and military costs.”
24

  The 

American expansion of the Vietnam War into Cambodia and Laos in 1970-1971 to gain 

leverage on North Vietnam, as well as the 1979 Soviet invasion of Afghanistan to install 

a friendly regime there were two prime examples.
25

   

 

An Ideological Competition? 

Other scholars argued that superpower foreign interventions in the developing 

world were more than mere efforts to protect security and economic interests.  They 

claimed that Marxist-Leninist ideology played a crucial role in Soviet actions.  Observers 

disagreed as to whether the ideological concept of “wars of liberation” started with Lenin, 

Khrushchev, or Brezhnev.  Meanwhile, some suggested that both the United States and 

the Soviet Union were motivated by ideology to become involved in the “Third World.”   
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Writing in the wake of the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, author, historian, and 

former army lieutenant colonel F. Charles Parker claimed that the nations of the “Third 

World” remained part of a Soviet strategy “fundamentally unchanged since 1920.”
26

  

Furthermore, Parker argued that the Soviet Union had consistently sought “to create 

tensions and divisions in the non-Communist world, including both the advanced 

capitalist nations and the backward areas of the Third World, in order to achieve strategic 

gains for the Soviet state,” and “Soviet domination of the world.”
27

  According to this 

line of reasoning, when Vladimir Lenin (r. 1917-1924) realized that the instability 

brought on by World War I had dissipated and his predicted workers’ revolutions in the 

West were not imminent, he proclaimed at the Second Congress of the Communist 

International in July, 1920, that Soviet foreign policy should seek to exploit differences 

among non-communist nations.
28

  By depriving Europe and America of colonies in the 

developing world, the Soviets would ensure that the capitalists had less material wealth 

with which to “bribe” workers into accepting the class-based status quo.
29

  According to 

Parker, every Soviet leader since the revolution claimed to be both a Leninist and a 

supporter of the same foreign policy objectives.
30

   

More recently, Volkogonov asserted that what became known as the Brezhnev 

Doctrine in the West actually had a much older pedigree and was in fact “Leninist-

Stalinist-Cominternist in origin.”
31

  He called the 1968 Soviet intervention in 
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Czechoslovakia “a warning to other satellites that their sovereignty was secondary to 

their ‘international duty’” as part of the global socialist movement.
32

  Volkogonov 

implied that similar reasoning led to the 1979 invasion of Afghanistan.
33

   

Ulam argued that although there had been “precedents” under Lenin, the 

ideological concept of “’wars of liberation’” from capitalist domination actually emerged 

under Nikita Khrushchev (r. 1953-1964).
34

  Tompson agreed, stating that as long as a 

newly independent nation was anti-imperialist in its orientation, Khrushchev offered his 

support and thereby pre-empted indigenous communist parties.
35

  According to 

Christopher Andrew and Vasili Mitrokhin, Khrushchev became convinced by the decline 

of European colonial empires after World War II “to revive the Leninist dream” of world 

socialism.
36

  Furthermore, he believed that the Soviet success with rapid industrialization 

in the 1930s could be replicated in former colonies across the globe.
37

 

Several scholars traced Soviet involvement in the developing world to the era of 

Leonid Brezhnev (r. 1964-1982).  Garthoff wrote, “Detente and peaceful coexistence 

with the United States did not…mean any lessening of the global ‘class struggle’ or of 

Soviet support for progressive historical change.”
38

  He noted that Moscow made this 

point at the Twenty-fourth Party Congress in 1971 when presenting its conception of 

detente.
39

  The Soviet leadership voiced similar sentiments at summit meetings with the 
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US in 1972 and 1973.
40

  Meanwhile, Daniels claimed that under Brezhnev there was “a 

vigorous political offensive,” as Moscow sought to draw “one developing country after 

another away from dependence on the capitalists and making them allies of the socialist 

camp.”
41

  Although he believed that the strategy was “probably more opportunistic than 

premeditated,” it nevertheless resulted in “America’s reversion to the worst Cold War 

fears.”
42

  Likewise, Pryce-Jones argued that in Asia “’proletarian dictatorships’” emerged 

in Vietnam, Laos, and Cambodia.
43

  In Africa, “a historical process of gaining 

independence from the colonial powers was reversed,” and the Congo, Benin, Ethiopia, 

Mozambique, and Angola became “Soviet clients.”
44

  Finally, Central America became 

“destabilized” after the Soviet-supported Sandinistas took control of Nicaragua.
45

  He 

added that while other empires made “profit-and-loss calculations” leading to 

decolonization, communism renewed the imperial drive through its fundamental doctrine 

of “’world revolution.’”
46

   

Zubok claimed that “the majority of the post-Khrushchev leadership shared the 

ideological (revolutionary) component of the international paradigm.”
47

  However, he 

suggested that rather than being pure ideologues, the détente-era generation of Soviet 

leaders were “prisoners of ideology,” who knew of no other way and therefore were 

unable to change course.
48

  Leffler was blunter.  He argued that Brezhnev “killed détente 

with the United States, the policy he had helped to launch a decade before,” by invading 
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Afghanistan in 1979.
49

  He added that Brezhnev “shamelessly defended Soviet actions” 

and claimed that Moscow was merely “answering the request of the Afghan government” 

for protection.
50

   

Georgi I. Mirski, a chief research fellow at the Institute of World Economy and 

International Relations in Moscow, Russian Academy of Sciences, argued that détente 

ended “mainly, although not exclusively, because of developments in the third world.”
51

  

Wanting to assert their role as the leader of international communism, the Soviets felt 

compelled to assist national liberation movements before the Chinese took action.
52

  

Furthermore, with nuclear parity and the division of Europe into eastern and western 

halves, the US-Soviet competition was at a relative standstill.
53

  The nations of Asia, 

Africa, and Latin America represented the only remaining potential battlefields.  

Consequently, Mirski concluded: “It was in the shifting sands of the third world, a 

battlefield of maneuver warfare, that new and unforeseen collisions between the 

superpowers could be expected, and they did not take long to materialize.”
54

 

Other scholars argued that both superpowers took actions in the developing world 

for ideological reasons.  Edward J. Brennan, Ireland’s ambassador to Moscow from 

1974-1980, stated that the United States and the Soviet Union were “by history and 

national character…prone to ideology in the conduct of their foreign relations.”
55

  For 

example, Thomas Jefferson believed that the United States would serve as a “’standing 
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monument and example for the aim and emulation by the rest of the world.’”
56

  Brennan 

also pointed to the ideological tenor of American foreign policy under President Ronald 

Reagan, who in a 1982 address before the British Parliament launched a “’crusade for 

freedom’” which would “’leave Marxism-Leninism on the ash-heap of history.’”
57

  

Likewise, Brennan claimed that two ideological principles drove Soviet foreign policy, 

specifically proletarian internationalism and peaceful coexistence of states with different 

social systems.
58

  The first referred to “the historic mission of the working class to 

establish socialism on a world scale,” while the second applied exclusively to relations 

between states, with the international class struggle continuing.
59

   

Similarly, Nelson claimed that “neither party to détente had promised to stop 

‘assisting’ history or trying to head off what it considered to be unnatural developments 

in the Third World.”
60

  He suggested that during the 1970s decolonization spread to 

nations which were utterly unprepared for it, causing many countries to be thrown “into 

anarchic independence.”
61

  Nelson argued that the Soviet Union simply took advantage 

and “project[ed] itself into other countries’ business” just as the US had often done.
62

   

According to some, the Soviets and Americans felt compelled by domestic 

politics to spread their respective ideologies.  James G. Richter argued that the 

superpowers “relied heavily on universalistic ideas to create a national identity.”
63

  He 

asserted that they “justified their foreign policies not only as a means to protect the 
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national interest but also to protect and even propagate the way of life (whether Soviet-

style socialism or liberal democracy) these ideas would prescribe.”
64

  These ideas or 

“myths” became part of each country’s domestic politics and were “difficult to dislodge,” 

he added.
65

  Likewise, Odd Arne Westad wrote that Washington and Moscow “were 

driven to intervene in the Third World by the ideologies inherent in their politics.”
66

  

Furthermore, Westad explained that the United States and the Soviet Union “needed to 

change the world in order to prove the universal applicability of their ideologies.”
67

 

Finally, Gaddis asserted that “ideology often determined [italics in original] the 

behavior of Marxist-Leninist regimes: it was not simply a justification for actions already 

decided upon.”
68

  Consequently, the United States had to choose between upholding its 

own ideological principles – including the right to self-determination – and preserving its 

economic and security interests.
69

  In no case was this paradox more evident than with the 

American intervention in Vietnam – something Gaddis called “the single greatest error 

the United States made in fighting the Cold War.”
70

 

 

Vietnam 

The roots of the Vietnam War lay in the global movement towards colonial 

independence after World War II.  In September, 1945, Ho Chi Minh declared 

Vietnamese independence from France, even quoting from the American Declaration of 
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Independence.
71

  Ho had worked with the American Office of Strategic Services – 

predecessor to the Central Intelligence Agency – during the war.  However, on February 

14, 1950, he met in Moscow with Mao Zedong and Joseph Stalin to request assistance in 

expelling the French.
72

  Stalin may have preferred to avoid providing direct assistance so 

as to not hurt the electoral chances of the French communists in Paris, and instead 

directed Mao to aid Ho’s forces in Southeast Asia.
73

  That year Beijing recognized the 

Democratic Republic of Vietnam and began sending supplies.
74

  Mao later sent advisers 

to create Chinese-style reeducation camps as well.
75

  Ho also adopted Mao’s tactics of 

terror including executions of land owners, intellectuals, and other “class enemies.”
76

 

As the French attempted to maintain their empire, they sought support first from 

the British and then the Americans.
77

  Nevertheless, France was defeated in 1954 at Dien 

Bien Phu with Indochina being divided into the three states of Vietnam, Laos, and 

Cambodia.
78

  Vietnam itself was split into a communist north and a non-communist south 

along the seventeenth parallel.
79

   

Depending on one’s point of view, the US began supporting South Vietnam as 

either a bulwark against communism or in order to establish a “satellite regime”
80

 in the 
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region.  Many Americans saw communism as an aggressive force opposed to democracy, 

human rights, and free markets, with the last of these being particularly concerning for 

the US as it worked to rebuild Japan after World War II.
81

  Furthermore, America’s 

economically devastated British allies needed access to rubber and tin from their nearby 

Malayan colony.
82

  If communism triumphed in Vietnam, many feared that other 

Southeast Asian countries would fall into line “like dominoes,” thus threatening US and 

Western interests.  It was this “domino theory” which resulted in American military 

involvement, particularly after 1965.  Years of fighting abroad and turmoil at home 

ensued for the United States.  When the Americans finally left in 1973, they had dropped 

a greater amount of high explosives in Vietnam than during the Second World War.
83

 

In the North, things were more complicated.  After Stalin’s death in 1953, 

ideological differences drove the Soviet Union and China apart.  According to Arbatov, 

one of these dealt with Chinese accusations of “betraying the revolutionary cause and the 

liberation movements.”
84

  Then in October, 1964, Beijing exploded its first nuclear 

weapon and Khrushchev was overthrown.
85

  From 1965-68 Hanoi received hundreds of 

thousands of troops from Beijing and thousands of military advisors from Moscow.
86

 

Washington’s intervention in the South may have “forced the Politburo’s hand,”
87

 but 

China’s increasing influence in the region was another reason why the Soviets became 

involved.
88

   Eventually Moscow’s military buildup allowed them to assume primary 
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responsibility while Beijing withdrew after realizing that it had created a strong, pro-

Soviet ally on its own border.
89

   

 

Prior to the Vietnam War there had been a bi-partisan consensus, both in 

Washington and amongst the American electorate, supporting the Cold War doctrine of 
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containment.  Many Americans believed that halting the spread of communism around 

the world was the proper role for the United States.  However, as early as 1966 Senator J. 

William Fulbright held several hearings of the Foreign Relations Committee debating the 

value of President Lyndon Johnson’s policies in Vietnam and even containment itself.
90

  

Then in January, 1968, “the Vietcong’s Tet Offensive exploded in living rooms across 

America.”
91

  Although the guerilla attack resulted in a communist defeat, the American 

military and people were completely caught off guard and disillusion set in.  By 1974 a 

study reported that public concern in the US over war, communism, the strength of the 

military, and the Soviet Union had dropped significantly over the previous ten years.
92

   

Many intellectuals who had formerly supported containment grew skeptical of the 

policy as well.  Theologian Reinhold Niebuhr, historian Arthur Schlesinger, Jr., and 

economist John Kenneth Galbraith cited rifts between the Soviet Union and China as well 

as the different agendas of individual communist states as evidence that communism as 

an international conspiracy no longer existed.
93

  Therefore, what sense did it make to 

have one uniform approach everywhere?
94

  While others, including Norman Podhoretz of 

Commentary and William F. Buckley, Jr. of National Review, may have believed that 

America’s exit from Vietnam demonstrated a loss of confidence in its role as leader of 

the free world, others argued that the US should never have aspired to play such a part in 
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the first place.
 95

  Due to the length of the conflict, its location on the other side of the 

globe, as well as the enormous cost in blood and treasure, Americans became divided 

over whether all of the sacrifice had been worth it.
96

   

Thus with the advent of the Nixon Administration the stated goal in Vietnam was 

to attain “peace with honor.”  This referred to an American withdrawal, but not before 

conditions had been achieved that would provide the South Vietnamese with at least a 

chance to survive alongside their communist rivals to the North.  Nixon and Kissinger 

believed that a poorly maneuvered exit would damage American credibility and hamper 

the maintenance of international stability.
97

  Thus they sought to exploit the Soviet-

Chinese rivalry through “triangular diplomacy,” (balancing the interests of China, the 

Soviet Union, and the United States
98

) while also understanding that neither Moscow nor 

Beijing directly controlled Hanoi.
99

  Nixon and Kissinger linked progress in Vietnam to 

areas of Soviet interest, including arms control and trade. According to Kissinger, his first 

overture to Hanoi occurred before Nixon had even been inaugurated.
100

  However, the 

North Vietnamese demanded an unconditional American withdrawal as well as the 

toppling of South Vietnamese President Nguyen Van Thieu’s government in Saigon 
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before they would release American prisoners of war.
101

  For the Nixon White House, 

complete capitulation to an enemy and abandonment of an ally would certainly not have 

qualified as “peace with honor.”  Hence, in 1969 Kissinger and North Vietnamese 

Politburo member Le Duc Tho began private peace talks in Paris.
102

  These were in 

addition to the official talks at Paris’s Hotel Majestic, which included South Vietnam and 

the Vietcong.
103

  

Meanwhile in the backchannel, Kissinger sought Dobrynin’s help in getting North 

Vietnam to come to an agreement.  Kissinger said that Dobrynin frequently downplayed 

Moscow’s influence on Hanoi.
104

 This may have reflected Soviet fears that applying too 

much pressure on the North Vietnamese would drive them towards China, the Soviet 

Union’s rival for the title of “leader” of the communist nations.
105

  Moscow may have 

also been concerned that Hanoi would resent being asked to make concessions for the 

sake of US-Soviet détente.
106

  Along with North Vietnam’s insistence on an end to 

Thieu’s regime, this could explain why negotiations dragged on for several years.
107

   

According to Nixon, in early 1972 his administration received intelligence that 

large amounts of Soviet arms were pouring into North Vietnam.
108

  Moscow may have 

been attempting to reassert its influence with Hanoi to spite Beijing after Nixon’s visit 

there in February.
109

 Then on March 30, 1972, North Vietnam initiated a full-scale 
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invasion of the South.
110

  South Vietnamese communist guerillas known as the Vietcong 

were joined by 120,000 troops of the North Vietnamese regular army equipped with 

Soviet tanks and artillery.
111

  With the arrival of troops from Hanoi which were backed 

by Moscow, Kissinger argued that the notion of the Vietnam War as simply a popular 

uprising of guerillas in the South had been destroyed.
112

  Despite a scheduled visit with 

Brezhnev later that month, on May 8 Nixon announced “Linebacker I,” the bombing of 

North Vietnam and mining of Haiphong Harbor.  The purpose was to halt further delivery 

via rail or ship of military supplies from Moscow.
113

  The first American-Soviet summit 

since 1961 was in great jeopardy.
114

   

According to Dobrynin, the Politburo was divided over how to proceed.  Defense 

Minister Marshall Andrei Grechko wanted the meeting cancelled, Foreign Minister 

Andrei Gromyko desired to press forward, and Chief Party Ideologist Mikhail Suslov 

remained undecided.
115

  Arbatov claimed that KGB Chief Yuri Andropov told him 

privately that there had been great pressure on Brezhnev to punish Nixon by 

cancelling.
116

  Some Politburo members were convinced that if the Soviets went ahead 

with the summit, “we would be politically humiliated and would lose our authority in the 

eyes of the world, particularly the Communist world, and with liberation movements,” 

wrote Arbatov.
117

  He believed that in the end Moscow forged ahead because it did not 

want to disrupt several pending agreements with the Federal Republic of (West) 
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Germany, an American ally.
118

  However, Dobrynin claimed that Moscow chose to hold 

the summit because “the alternative would amount to handing Hanoi a veto over our 

relations with America.”
119

   

The Chinese-Russian rivalry must be factored in as well.  Nixon’s visit to Beijing 

in February may have intensified Soviet fears of a Chinese-American alliance.
120

  Thus 

Moscow, desiring a top-level meeting of its own more than ever, may have been more 

inclined to look the other way on American military activities in Vietnam.
121

   

Kissinger and Dobrynin probably also deserved some credit for the summit 

proceeding as scheduled.  Both well understood the complexity of conducting 

superpower diplomacy while simultaneously supporting one’s allies.  Just prior to 

Nixon’s bombing announcement, Kissinger asked to see Dobrynin.
122

  (Dobrynin noted 

that whenever Kissinger asked to see him before Nixon was going to make a speech he 

knew bad news was coming!
123

)  Upon hearing of Nixon’s plans the Soviet ambassador 

was clearly disappointed.
124

  Two days later when Dobrynin arrived at the Map Room of 

the White House, Kissinger held his breath out of fear that Moscow might cancel the 

summit.
125

  Instead, Dobrynin merely read a note from his government registering what 

Nixon called “a relatively mild and private protest,” with no mention of cancelling.
126

  

The next day over lunch Dobrynin told Kissinger, “You have handled a difficult situation 
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uncommonly well.”
127

  He also credited Kissinger with understanding how difficult it 

was for the Soviets to proceed while their allies were being bombed by the Americans.
128

 

 Following the successful summit in May, on June 30th Kissinger spoke to 

Dobrynin from California to explain that Hanoi was attempting to gain leverage by 

injecting American domestic politics into the peace process: 

K: Okay.  Two things - - One, about the Vietnam talks.  I wanted to say 

one thing about your friends there. 

 

D: Where? 

 

K:  Hanoi.  And I must say it very seriously to your leadership.  One is 

they’re already starting again what we told you at great length we would 

never tolerate. 

 

D: What namely? 

 

K: Well, now they’ve made a statement today saying they have forced us 

back to the conference table. 

 

D: Henry, you know I mentioned to you the other day when we went over 

this, some kind of statement they will do it.  They didn’t specifically tell 

us what kind of statement. 

 

K: Now they’ve invited Joe Kraft and some Labor leaders to Hanoi. 

 

D: Joe Kraft? 

 

K: Yeah.  And you know what the purpose of this is. 

 

D: No. 

 

K: You know, they are going to float whatever proposals they’re going to 

make publicly before they speak with us. 

 

Then later… 

 

K: If they play domestic politics here, we will do what we did in May.  We 

will break off and escalate because we have nothing to lose that way.  
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Then we will have to try to force them to their knees…I mean, I am telling 

you frankly.  This is not to be transmitted in quite this brutal language. 

 

D: Yeah, I understand.  Well, the only thing we should really put in the 

promise is what you said in the middle.  I mean, if they are really going to 

tell everything to all the people who come to them having nothing to do 

with the Administration and just give out publicly, then there is no sense 

to negotiate.  …Yeah, this I am prepared to ask on your behalf of my 

people in Moscow to tender to Hanoi.  This I could do.
129

 

 

Kissinger believed that Hanoi was not negotiating honestly.  If this continued, he 

threatened that the US might intensify its aerial strikes.  Dobrynin said that he understood 

and would relay the message to Moscow, but also politely explained that he would omit 

the part where Kissinger pledged to “force them to their knees.”
130

 

 On July 6 Kissinger again phoned Dobrynin from the West coast.  Hanoi had 

extended an invitation to yet another American from outside of the administration – 

Labor leader James Hoffa.
131

  “…sometimes Hanoi is beyond my comprehension,” said 

Kissinger, adding “…it isn’t even dangerous to us except that it’s awfully hard to see how 

they can be serious if they keep doing idiotic things like this.”
132

  “No, I understand this, 

but sometimes in their own way of thinking this is very difficult to…Do you 

understand?” asked Dobrynin.
133

  “Yeh, well, it’s not a major thing,” said Kissinger, who 

later expressed a greater concern: 

K: …Look, we’re not going to bring a new negotiator in now – they’re 

stuck with me.  Because I’m afraid if I let them get away with it you’ll ask 

me for a new negotiator. 

 

D: I don’t want a new negotiator except for you. 
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K: OK.  Thank you.
134

 

 

Although Kissinger had previously stated that the White House would “break off and 

escalate,”
135

 in response to Hanoi’s latest tactics, now he said “it’s not a major thing.”
136

 

Dobrynin, who often seemed to have a calming effect on the more animated Kissinger, 

had successfully made the case that this was just the way the North Vietnamese 

negotiated.  By this time, Kissinger seemed much more concerned that negotiations 

between him and Dobrynin would continue as before. 

 As the presidential campaign of 1972 played out through the summer and into the 

fall, Nixon looked to be in an excellent position for re-election.  The bombing and mining 

campaign in North Vietnam as well as triangular diplomacy appeared to be paying off.  

The last American combat troops were withdrawn from the North on August 12 as part of 

Nixon’s Vietnamization policy (reducing the American role while increasing that of the 

South Vietnamese).
137

  Later that month, Nhan Dan, a publication of the North 

Vietnamese Communist party, complained about the effects of the bombing while 

expressing frustration that Moscow and Beijing had abandoned the proletarian cause in 

favor of pursing détente with Washington.
138

  

Consequently, the White House had leverage in its talks with North Vietnam.  In 

early October, Kissinger and Le Duc Tho reached a tentative settlement around four 

agreements: a ceasefire, a return of prisoners-of-war, a total American withdrawal from 

South Vietnam, and the creation of a National Council of Concord and Reconciliation.
139
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The membership of the council would be drawn in three equal parts from the existing 

South Vietnamese government, communists, and neutrals, with the assigned task of 

setting up elections.
140

  Remarkably, Hanoi had dropped their long-standing demand for 

an end to Thieu’s government in Saigon.
141

  Although there were several remaining 

issues, perhaps the most difficult problem would be getting Thieu to accept an agreement 

which gave the communists a political role and permitted more than 150,000 North 

Vietnamese troops to remain in the South.
142

 

 On the morning of October 15 Kissinger explained to Dobrynin that the White 

House viewed the presence of these North Vietnamese regular army units in the South, as 

well as the flow of Soviet arms to them, as the main obstacles to getting South Vietnam 

to settle.
143

  Since the administration had no interest in a confrontation with Saigon so 

close to the November 7 election, Kissinger inquired if the Soviets could intercede with 

Hanoi to obtain a partial withdrawal.
144

  “We recognize they can’t pull them all out, but if 

there could be at least some token movement and most importantly the question of 

military supplies to them.  And what the President wants to do is write a letter to 

Brezhnev,” said Kissinger.
145

  “I understand.  This is just for his [Brezhnev’s] 

consideration,” replied Dobrynin.
146

  Although Dobrynin met with Kissinger later that 

afternoon to receive Nixon’s letter, the Soviet ambassador said that since the ongoing 

negotiations were between Washington and Hanoi it would be “premature” for Moscow 
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to make any promises about reducing weapons shipments to North Vietnam.
147

  However, 

he would pass along the request in regard to North Vietnamese troop withdrawal.   

 This exchange demonstrated how Soviet cooperation was not only essential to get 

the North Vietnamese to negotiate, but also to enable the US to make progress with its 

own ally in the South.  At times, Kissinger seemed to view Saigon as being just as 

intransigent as Hanoi, and claimed that without some North Vietnamese troop withdrawal 

it would take much longer to come to an agreement.   

From May 9 until October 23, 1972, the US made 41,500 aerial attacks on North 

Vietnam,
148

 but on October 24 Kissinger told Dobrynin that the White House would stop 

all bombing north of the 20
th
 parallel as long as negotiations continued.

149
  The following 

day the White House was prepared to go further.  Although Hanoi requested Kissinger to 

visit North Vietnam, he believed that would alienate Saigon.  Instead, he offered a halt to 

all bombing of North Vietnam if Le Duc Tho would meet him in Paris for further 

negotiations.
150

  Kissinger told Dobrynin to inform Moscow that Washington’s offer had 

come as a direct result of a positive message from the Kremlin the day before in regard to 

how “issues of prestige should not stand in the way when peace is so near.”
151

 

 However, on October 26 North Vietnam publicly announced the tentative 

agreement reached earlier that month between Washington and Hanoi.
152

  This was 

almost certainly a tactic to apply pressure on Saigon and portray Thieu as an 
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obstructionist to peace.
153

  Perhaps against his better judgment, Kissinger felt compelled 

to confirm the story by announcing, “’We believe peace is at hand.’”
154

   

 Richard Nixon was overwhelmingly re-elected in a 49 state landslide on 

November 7, 1972.  The outcome had implications far beyond the President’s personal 

political fortunes, however.  It ensured that Soviet-American relations would continue 

with the Kissinger-Dobrynin backchannel as the main point of contact.  The next day, 

Dobrynin relayed the congratulations of the Soviet government.  Although it is tempting 

to dismiss this as just polite diplomacy, it is highly probable that the Soviets were 

genuinely pleased by the result of the contest between Nixon and South Dakota Senator 

George McGovern, for it guaranteed that they would be dealing with the same 

administration – at least for a while.  As usual, Kissinger found it hard to be humble:  

D: Good morning, Henry. 

 

K: We didn’t carry Siberia. 

 

D: Oh.  My impression on the contrary, [you] carried all my country 

because even now in my Embassy I am listening “Four more years, four 

more years.” 

 

K: Is that what you’re saying? 

 

D: Exactly.  In my Embassy everybody is shouting with beginning four 

years this 12 o’clock at night.  So I hear even from Moscow the same - - I 

mean, the same sounds…   

 

Then later… 

 

D: Well, once again, Henry, from deep in my heart I really like this 

development because I really have a very nice relationship - -  

 

K: I don’t know whether one can have a feeling of personal friendship 

with a Communist diplomat but I have it. 
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D: (laughter) So my best personal regards towards you and to the 

President.  Please regard my personal regards too. 

 

K: Thank you.
155

 

  

Just as everything seemed to be progressing more or less smoothly towards an end 

to the war, the North Vietnamese launched a renewed offensive on the South in late 

November.  Hanoi had lost patience with Saigon’s refusal to settle and was outraged that 

Kissinger had recently visited South Vietnam, but skipped the North.  On November 26, 

Kissinger gave Dobrynin the news in his typically colorful way:  

K: Well, your friends have gone crazy. 

 

D: I look at things…and I figure that Thieu – you couldn’t handle him 

from this point of view.  You know from both sides I don’t need to tell 

you because you know them probably the best because you have a chance 

to observe them…from a short distance.  I only from a long distance. 

 

K: Right.  Well, where we are – you know I don’t know what influence 

you have over them [Hanoi].  We will give a rather moderate response… 

 

Then later… 

 

K: It’s very stupid because if they had followed what we told them there 

would certainly have been an agreement in three weeks. 

 

D: Well, you see I think one of the reasons was that they really wanted 

you to come there [to Hanoi]... I still don’t see – well I know your reasons. 

 

K: Because it would have led to an explosion in Saigon.
156

 

 

Dobrynin believed that Kissinger had made a tactical mistake by snubbing the North 

Vietnamese: “They have really high emotions . . . . . in Hanoi.  This I can tell you quite 

frankly.”
157

  To which Kissinger replied, “I’ve told them again and again that I would 
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have to get the approval of Saigon and elsewhere.  They just always said no…”
158

  Once 

again, a mutual understanding of the complexity of engaging in superpower détente while 

also seeking to mollify one’s allies was apparent.  Kissinger and Dobrynin had been over 

this before, and though they still disagreed, each was able to appreciate the other’s 

position.     

A couple of days later, Kissinger discovered that the Soviet embassy was asking 

questions about his future.  Although Nixon had just been re-elected, it was not a 

foregone conclusion that all of his various cabinet advisors would be retained.  On 

November 28, 1972, Kissinger assured Dobrynin that he had nothing to worry about: 

K: Well, I read in the papers that you people are inquiring whether I’m on 

the way out. 

 

D: Who inquired? 

 

K: I saw a newspaper article saying officials of the Soviet Embassy made 

inquiries all over town last week. 

 

D: Oh, I think it was just, you know, sometimes the press just try to make 

up things.  It’s important that I know that you are in, no doubt.   

 

K: I’m relaxed. 

 

D: Yes, so there is not any problem.
159

   

 

Although he dismissed the press reports, Dobrynin conceded that it was important to him 

that Kissinger would be around and that the partnership would continue.  This exchange 

and others like it reveal the comfort and even a degree of dependence between Kissinger 

and Dobrynin which developed over time.  Such a relationship helped to promote trust, a 

willingness to give the benefit of the doubt, and forbearance during trying situations. 
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Over the next several weeks, the American and North Vietnamese delegations 

continued negotiations to put the final touches on a settlement.  However, Thieu still 

refused to agree to a ceasefire as long as North Vietnamese troops remained in the 

South.
160

  In early December Kissinger travelled to Paris to convince Le Duc Tho to 

remove the troops, but he refused and the talks once again broke down.
161

  When 

Kissinger returned to Washington on December 13 he explained the situation to the 

White House.
162

  Nixon believed he had to show Saigon that he would come to its rescue 

if Hanoi violated the ceasefire, as well as show Hanoi the price they would pay for such a 

violation.
163

  On December 14 he decided on another round of full-scale bombing.
164

   

 The renewed bombing campaign, “Linebacker II,” targeted shipyards, radio 

transmitters, armaments factories, and military bases.
165

  Hanoi utilized Soviet surface-to-

air missiles (SAMS) in defense.
166

  After 729 flights by B-52 bombers and 1,800 sorties 

overall in eleven days,
167

 (with a thirty-six hour break during Christmas
168

) on December 

29 the North Vietnamese agreed to reopen talks.
169

  Kissinger and Le Duc Tho then met 

in Paris on January 8, 1973, to begin final negotiations to end the Vietnam War.
170

 

 Nixon succeeded where Johnson failed in using air power because the nature of 

the war had changed.
171

  When Johnson personally conducted his “Rolling Thunder” 
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campaign from 1965-68, the US was primarily fighting Vietcong guerillas.
172

  Due to the 

hit and run nature of guerilla warfare in which prolonged engagements are avoided, the 

Vietcong did not require long supply lines which could be destroyed by bombing.
173

  

However, after the American defeat of the Vietcong during the Tet Offensive of 1968, the 

war became a more traditional conflict with Hanoi’s regular army.
174

  A large army was 

more exposed to the effects of bombing, thus Nixon’s “Linebacker I” and “Linebacker II” 

campaigns of 1972 had greater impact.
175

 

 According to a discussion between Kissinger and Dobrynin on January 16, 1973, 

one of the sticking points prior to the most recent round of bombings had been Hanoi’s 

insistence on linking the release of American prisoners of war to the release of political 

prisoners held by Saigon.
176

  Kissinger rejected the notion that the release of American 

POWs should be contingent on South Vietnam’s actions.  After the “Christmas bombing” 

however, Hanoi agreed to release American POWs within two months of signing a 

treaty.
177

  Meanwhile, the US promised to “use its influence” in getting political prisoners 

released from Saigon.
178

  Remaining issues included Hanoi’s request for $5 billion in 

compensation as a result of the recent bombing and the removal of mines.
179

 

 There had also been progress with South Vietnam.  Thieu finally gave his assent 

to the agreement even though it permitted North Vietnamese troops to remain in the 
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South.
180

  In several letters, Nixon assured Thieu that aid would be resumed if needed, 

but also threatened to abandon the South Vietnamese President if he did not settle.
181

   

 On January 22, 1973, Kissinger spoke with Dobrynin just before embarking for 

Paris to sign a peace accord ending the Vietnam War.
182

  The conversation revealed a 

sense of anticipation, but also uneasiness due to so many past disappointments: 

AD: Talk about protocols - - does - - is it all right everything in Paris? 

 

HK: We have a few minor problems, but it’s inconceivable they’ll hold us 

up.  We need from them a very, very minor concession as a face-saving 

thing for Thieu - -  

 

AD: On protocol? 

 

HK: On protocols and they are so minor - - they are all crazy - - the 

Vietnamese are crazy so you can’t assume it will be done, but that’s only 

the real problem.  It’s so complex - - you have to be half Vietnamese to 

understand it. 

 

AD: But I gather now you are more than half Vietnamese. . . . 

 

HK: Oh I am.  It is inconceivable that the thing will not succeed now. 

 

AD: They may prolong for two-three days. 

 

HK: An extra day, but 

 

AD: In this case when you are going to initial it should be by this time 

[on] Monday [or] Tuesday - - everything should be initialed by this time? 

 

HK: We would like to initial everything together because once you let 

these maniacs loose, it’s going to start all over. 

 

Then later… 

 

AD: Well, good luck, Henry. 

 

HK: Thank you Anatol and I need not tell you what a joy it has been to 

work with you. . .seriously we have done a lot of good things together. 
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AD: Yes, Right.  Henry. 

 

HK: It took us two and a half years really to get started in the last 

administration - - this one we can start with a running start.
183

 

 

Kissinger and Dobrynin must have felt vindicated when representatives of the US, North 

Vietnam, South Vietnam, and the Vietcong signed the Paris Peace Accords on January 

27, 1973.
184

  They hoped to accomplish even more during Nixon’s second term. 

 However, by the spring of 1973 the accords were already unraveling.  According 

to Kissinger, North Vietnam had maintained forces in Laos and Cambodia, moved eleven 

of its twelve divisions into South Vietnam in early 1975, and obtained military equipment 

well in excess of agreed-upon replacement levels – all violations of the Paris 

agreement.
185

  Indeed, Moscow increased military shipments to Hanoi throughout 1974 

and 1975.
186

  Meanwhile, the US Congress ended funds for any American military 

purposes in Indochina in June, 1973.
187

  US economic aid to Saigon also declined from 

$2.3 billion in 1973, to $1.1 billion in 1974, and to $700 billion in 1975.
188

  It must have 

been a bitter pill for Kissinger after his efforts to obtain “peace with honor.”  A Nobel 

Peace Prize had followed for him and Le Duc Tho in 1973, but it could stop neither the 

North Vietnamese offensive nor the flow of Soviet military equipment in support of it. 

 What of Dobrynin?  What role did he have in Moscow’s actions?  Although he 

may have approved of the developments in Vietnam, it is highly doubtful that he had 
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anything to do with effectively sabotaging his work with Kissinger.  The walls between 

the various Soviet government bureaucracies made it unlikely that an ambassador in the 

Foreign Ministry had knowledge of the Defense Ministry’s plans or activities.  

Additionally, Dobrynin often differed with his superiors on matters of policy as in the 

case of emigration restrictions.  It seems probable that he would have preferred for 

Moscow to be less egregious in the way it assisted Hanoi. 

After receiving intelligence that Saigon could only hold on for another three or 

four weeks, President Ford addressed a joint session of Congress on April 10, 1975.
189

  

Although Kissinger advised the President to blame Congress and even wrote a “’go down 

with the flags flying’” speech,
190

 Ford opted for a more conciliatory approach.  He 

requested $722 million in military aid and $250 million more for economic and 

humanitarian assistance.
191

  However, when he met with the Senate Foreign Relations 

committee on April 14th, Senators Jacob Javits of New York, Frank Church of Idaho, and 

Joseph Biden of Delaware only pledged support for evacuating Americans.
192

 

In a highly redacted conversation from April 18, 1975, Kissinger and Ford 

discussed the possibility of obtaining a ceasefire in order to stage an evacuation.
193

  “I 

called in Dobrynin tomorrow morning.  I want to ask him for a temporary cease-fire to 

permit evacuation of Americans and Vietnamese,” said Kissinger.
194

  “Do they have 

control or the power to effect a cease-fire?” inquired Ford.
195

  “No probably not,” replied 
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Kissinger, “but I want to ask him not to ship any military equipment during that time.  I 

am for taking the 2 chances in 20 that they may help…”
196

   

Ford then implied that congressional limitations on the Central Intelligence 

Agency had helped to precipitate the crisis: “No President including myself, can operate 

with a crippled intelligence community.  It doesn’t make sense to destroy the agency for 

one mistake they made.”
197

  Of course, it had been more than one mistake.  CIA director 

William E. Colby later handed over to Congress an institutional study revealing hundreds 

of cases of civil liberties abuses at home as well as excesses in covert activities abroad 

over the life of the organization.
198

  CIA personnel referred to the warrantless wiretaps, 

assassination plots and break-ins as the “Family Jewels.”
199

  Following investigations by 

a presidential commission as well as special committees of both the House and Senate, 

the agency’s reputation became badly tarnished by the end of the 1970s.
200

   

On April 24, Dobrynin relayed a message from Brezhnev through the 

backchannel: “The position of the Vietnamese side on the question of evacuation of 

American citizens from South Vietnam is definitely positive…they have no intention to 

put any obstacles in the course of military actions to the evacuation of American citizens 

from South Vietnam…”
201

  Washington had received Moscow’s assistance in obtaining 

time to stage an evacuation.  Hanoi had said that it would not interfere.
202

  Nevertheless, 

two days later Dobrynin received a message from Ford stating that the North Vietnamese 

                                                
196 Ibid. 
197

 Ibid. 
198 G.J.A. O’Toole, Honorable Treachery – A History of U.S. Intelligence, Espionage, and Covert Action 

from the American Revolution to the CIA (New York: The Atlantic Monthly Press, 1991), 492. 
199 Ibid. 
200 Ibid. 
201 Kissinger Transcripts.  Department of State. 
202 Hayward, 406. 



186 

 

were bombarding the Saigon airport as well as several buildings in the vicinity of the 

American embassy.
203

  When Kissinger charged Hanoi with seeking to humiliate 

Washington, Dobrynin cited complaints in Congress and the media that the American 

evacuation had taken too long.
204

  As the end drew near, more than 6,000 Americans and 

South Vietnamese escaped from the roof of the embassy as helicopters made repeated 

trips to off-shore Navy ships to rescue them.
205

  Saigon fell on April 30, 1975. 

Following the North Vietnamese takeover, thousands of South Vietnamese were 

executed and tens of thousands imprisoned.
206

  Over the next few years, more than one 

million people fled Indochina as South Vietnam, Cambodia, and Laos all fell to 

communist regimes.
207

  Hundreds of thousands became refugees as “boat people,”
208

 

risking their lives on barely sea-worthy vessels with many coming to the United States. 

A united Vietnam was just one of ten new communist regimes which emerged 

around the world from 1974-1980.
209

  To what extent was this driven by Moscow?  On 

the other hand, could there have been a “bandwagoning effect” or “’psychological 

domino effect’” leading countries to align with the seemingly ascendant Soviet Union?
210

  

Certainly for those viewing the Cold War as a global “zero-sum reputational game,” 

Moscow was winning and Washington was losing.
211
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The October 1973 Arab-Israeli War 

Ever since the creation of the modern state of Israel in 1948, war or the threat of 

war between the Jewish nation and its Arab neighbors has been an almost constant 

feature of international headlines.  After the Israeli War of Independence in 1948-49, 

subsequent conflicts occurred during the 1956 Suez Canal Crisis and the 1967 Six Day 

War.  The last of these resulted in Israel obtaining the Golan Heights from Syria, the 

West Bank of the Jordan River from Jordan, and the Sinai Peninsula and Gaza Strip from 

Egypt.  American support for Israel and Soviet backing of Egypt and Syria ensured that 

the Arab-Israeli conflict intersected with détente.  

 

The Soviets established a relationship with the Egyptians as early as 1955 when 

Khrushchev and Egyptian President Gamal Abdel Nasser completed an arms 

agreement.
212

  According to Kissinger, in the 1960s Moscow was the main arms supplier 
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to both Egypt and Syria and provided organization and technical assistance to radical 

Arab groups.
213

  By the 1970s support for national liberation on the one hand and a desire 

to pursue détente with the Americans on the other forced the Soviets to walk a fine line.   

As the foremost ally of Israel (the Americans had been first to recognize the 

Jewish state in 1948 under President Harry S. Truman), the US would oppose efforts to 

re-arm Cairo and Damascus.  Consequently when Nasser’s successor, Anwar Sadat, 

requested new arms shipments, the Soviets insisted on being paid with hard currency 

which they knew the Egyptians did not have – thus preventing a sale in 1972.
214

  In a 

move to assert his independence, Sadat expelled approximately 20,000 Soviet military 

advisors in July of that year.
215

  This also could have been a shrewd attempt to compel the 

Soviets to come through on the promised deliveries.
216

  When Saudi Arabia provided 

Egypt with five hundred million dollars in January, 1973, Moscow was forced to make 

the weapons transaction.
217

  While the Soviets probably did not want a confrontation with 

the Americans, they did seek the enhanced prestige in the developing world which a 

successful Arab war to reclaim lost territories would bring.
218

   

 

Saturday, October 6 

On October 6, 1973 – the Jewish holy day of Yom Kippur – Sadat and Syria’s 

Hafiz Al-Assad initiated a coordinated attack on two fronts.  The Egyptians used 
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makeshift pontoon bridges to send 70,000 troops and 800 tanks across the Suez Canal 

into the Israeli-occupied Sinai Peninsula.
219

  Meanwhile, the Syrians invaded the Golan 

Heights.
220

  At 9:20 a.m. Kissinger explained the situation on the ground to Dobrynin: 

K: Our information is that the Egyptians and Syrians have attacked all 

along their [fronts] and also. . .  

 

D: Is it the canal. 

 

K: The Canal and the Golan Heights.  [Egyptian Foreign Minister] Zayyat  

is claiming the Israelis launched a naval attack on some isolated spot in 

the Gulf of Suez and that triggered the whole thing. 

 

D: I saw on a ticker they claim that Israel began attack.  Zayyat told you. 

 

K: He told me not along the Canal but in the Gulf of Suez.  We are all 

going to have to be taking formal positions.  You and I know that is 

baloney if they [the Israelis] are going to attack they will not launch an 

attack in the Gulf of Suez and at the key points.  Not their style. 

 

D: I understand. 

 

K: How is it that the Syrians and Egyptians are starting at the same minute 

- - all along the front.  If it started with an Israel naval attack, you and I are 

having a problem in how to get this stopped.  We are using our maximum 

influence with the Israelis to show restraint… 

 

D: O.K.  I will send additional message to Moscow.  Really madness. 

 

K: Total madness…We should meet urgently.  We should, I think use this 

occasion to first not to have everything we have achieved destroyed by 

maniacs on [either] side and after quieting it down to see what can be done 

constructively.   

 

D: All right.  Thank you very much.
221

 

 

It must have been infuriating for Kissinger and Dobrynin to contemplate that all of their 

work in building détente could potentially be undone by the Arab-Israeli dispute.  

However, as events unfolded both would take the opportunity to advance his country’s 
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interests through support of respective allies.  The tension between conducting 

superpower diplomacy and simultaneously pursuing security, economic, and ideological 

goals in the Middle East would test the Kissinger-Dobrynin relationship as never before. 

Kissinger probably believed that going before the entire United Nations General 

Assembly, including numerous Arab and Soviet bloc nations, would be too time 

consuming and result in a less favorable outcome for the United States and Israel.  The 

UN Security Council, which included only the US, Soviet Union, China, France, and 

Great Britain as permanent members, would be a much more hospitable environment.  

Around 7:00 p.m. Kissinger pressed for a Security Council ceasefire resolution, but 

Dobrynin explained why his government was opposed: 

D: …I had rather hear from Moscow but as I understand our position the 

difficulties we are now facing is that the Arabs are trying to regain the 

lands occupied by Israel.  They have been using that argument to us and 

for us to tell them you cannot free your land, it is ridiculous. 

 

K: I recognize the situation.  I am not saying it is all easy.  We have a 

different situation.  There have not been any raids on Damascus and Cairo 

but I would not bet anything on tomorrow. 

 

D: I understand. 

 

K: Is [it] possible for the Politburo to imagine a complete course of action 

which we agree on privately. 

 

D: What course of action do you propose besides SC [Security Council]. 

 

K: A defacto return to the status quo ante a defacto return of the 

ceasefire... 

 

D: I understand. 

 

K: We have a framework out of which we could crystallize.  The Arabs 

have now proved their point. 

 

D: Henry, how could they? 
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K: You see they are going to lose.  It is not a case where we are asking.  

Not like [the 1971 war between] India and Pakistan. 

 

D: I understand.  The military point of view.  I cannot argue with you.  

You know the situation better.  I am trying to understand the situation 

better politically.
222

 

 

Both diplomats seemed convinced that it was just a matter of time until the Israelis 

repelled the Egyptians and Syrians.  For this reason, Kissinger explained that there was 

no point in the Arabs continuing their offensive.  In fact, he intimated that if a ceasefire 

did not come soon Cairo and Damascus might become vulnerable.   

 Kissinger and Dobrynin knew that the way they handled the situation would have 

repercussions beyond the Middle East.  Détente had opponents in both of their countries, 

and a poor outcome would play right into the hands of their critics.  “If you and we could 

find a way of settling this now then it would be an overwhelming argument in all of the 

things we have been going through as to what the practical consequences have been of 

our relationship,” said Kissinger.
223

  “I understand,” said Dobrynin, but since the Soviets 

had proclaimed their support for national liberation they felt constrained in what they 

could do:  “They [the Arabs] would say you have spoken of liberating.  It is impossible 

for us.”
224

   

 

Monday, October 8 

 At 8:30 a.m. Israel launched a counterattack.
225

  The prospect of the superior 

Israeli military pushing back the Arab gains must have induced a change of heart in 
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Moscow.  At 9:54 a.m. Dobrynin told Kissinger, “We have contacted the leaders of the 

Arab states on the question of ceasefire.  We hope to get a reply shortly.”
226

  Kissinger 

replied that the White House would hold off submitting a resolution before the Security 

Council for the time being and settle for “a general discussion” instead.
227

   

 

Tuesday, October 9 

 Thus far the only Arab nations involved in the conflict were Egypt and Syria.  

However, Dobrynin seemed genuinely shocked when Kissinger told him at 11:29 a.m. 

about a message the White House had just received from the Kingdom of Jordan: 

K: “The Soviet Charge [d’Affaires] asked to see King [Hussein] and was 

received this morning.  Charge said Soviets fully support Arabs in conflict 

with Israel.  He said Soviet Union thought all Arab States should enter 

battle now.” 

 

D: Soviet, what? 

 

K: “Soviet Union thought all Arab . . .” 

 

D: Soviet Union? 

 

K: Yes. 

 

D: Thought or fought? 

 

K: Recommending to the King. 

 

D: Un-huh. 

 

K: “King considers this a Soviet request for him to send his army into 

action..” 

 

D: We asked King to go into action? 

 

K: Yeah.
228

 

                                                
226 Kissinger Transcripts.  Department of State. 
227

 Ibid. 
228 [October 1973.  Box #28.] 



193 

 

“Unbelievable story,” replied Dobrynin.
229

  And truly it was.  If the Soviets had 

encouraged other Arab countries to join the fighting rather than pressuring Egypt and 

Syria to agree to a ceasefire as they had claimed, it could have meant the death-knell for 

détente.  Dobrynin desperately sought a clarification: “Was it ours . .?  I don’t have any 

information at all…our support of Arab countries is nothing new.  But as you said we 

asked King to send………yes?”
230

  After Kissinger told him that he had heard correctly, 

the bewildered Dobrynin said he would check with Moscow immediately.
231

  

Brezhnev had indeed sent a message to the other Arab nations.  But why take such 

a chance of damaging détente?  The answer lies in the fact that two separate Soviet 

foreign policy goals came into conflict with the outbreak of hostilities in the Middle East.  

To the Arab world, Israel represented a Western implant and the latest incarnation of 

European colonialism, somewhat similar to South Africa.
232

  The past partnership of Tel 

Aviv and Johannesburg in some military matters and even the production of nuclear 

weapons only added to this perception.
233

  The USSR had to demonstrate its commitment 

to national liberation and preserve its influence in the region by assisting the Arabs.
234

  

However, if it appeared that the Israelis faced destruction, the US would intervene and 

Moscow wanted to avoid a confrontation with Washington which could jeopardize 

détente.
235

  Consequently, on October 9 the Soviets initiated an arms airlift to Egypt and 

Syria.
236

  But in order to limit the Soviet role, Brezhnev also sent a letter to President 
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Boumedienne of Algeria exhorting all of the Arab nations to join the fight.
237

  The 

Soviets sought to provide enough help to prevent an Arab defeat, but not so much that 

Egypt and Syria would achieve an overwhelming victory over Israel.
238

   

 

Wednesday, October 10 

 At 8:13 a.m. the next morning, Dobrynin had an update from Moscow on the 

ceasefire question.
239

  The Soviets decided that their relationship with their allies 

prohibited them from supporting such a measure, however, they would not oppose one 

either – the Soviet representative on the Security Council would abstain during voting.
240

  

This was a logical position for the Soviets to take as they sought a middle ground 

between preserving détente and upholding the principle of national liberation.  Kissinger 

said he would need time to discuss it with Nixon, but gave Dobrynin permission to tell 

the Kremlin that it had been “a constructive message.”
241

  

 Later that morning domestic politics put the Middle East on hold.  Vice-President 

Spiro Agnew had been investigated for months by the Justice Department on charges of 

bribery, extortion, and tax fraud dating from his time as Governor of Maryland.
242

  He 

eventually pled no contest to a single count of tax evasion, and was about to resign.
243

  

Therefore the White House was unable for the time being to respond to the Soviet 

abstention proposal.  At 11:45 a.m. Kissinger confided in Dobrynin: 
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K: Anatol, I just wanted to tell you something.  We are having a major 

domestic problem, which as you will see, even you will recognize it’s 

major, which is coming to a head early this afternoon. 

 

D: Yeah. 

 

K: And so there will be decisional delay until I can get you - - But you 

will get your formal answer. 

 

D: You mean it happens today or tomorrow? 

 

K: By the end of the day I will give you an answer. 

 

D: By the end of the day. 

 

K: I just want you to know.  You will see that this is not a delaying tactic. 

 

D: Yeah.  But what is the crisis?  Could you tell me that? 

 

K: Well, it concerns the Vice President. 

 

D: Oh, I see. 

 

K: So I wanted you to know that and I’ll be in touch with you around 4:00 

or 5:00 o’clock this afternoon.
244

 

 

Now it was Dobrynin’s turn to be patient.  Kissinger closed by saying, “Now what I’ve 

told you about this domestic situation, Anatol, is a sign of my great confidence in you.”
245

  

“No, no, no.  I understand,” replied Dobrynin.
246

 

 But by 5:40 p.m. the White House had still not replied.
247

  “We consider it a 

serious proposal and we have to think this thing through to think how to answer,” 

explained Kissinger.
248

  Dobrynin seemed more concerned about a potential American 

airlift to Israel: “Henry, I see in the news media…build-up.”
249

  To which Kissinger 

                                                
244

 Kissinger Transcripts.  Department of State. 
245

 Ibid. 
246 Ibid. 
247 Ibid. 
248 Ibid. 
249 Ibid. 



196 

 

answered, “For your information, we are doing next to nothing.”
250

  Kissinger then 

appealed to Dobrynin on a personal level: “Anatoly, you have gone through too many 

crises with me.  We are trying to get this thing settled.  You are going to hear from us 

during the course of the evening.”
251

  He also explained that as Secretary of State he had 

to sign all government commissions as well as receive all resignations.
252

  Dobrynin 

seemed to understand the need for Kissinger’s involvement in Agnew’s departure. 

 At 9:45 p.m. Kissinger told a disappointed Dobrynin that there had been too much 

happening during the day for the White House to respond to the Soviet proposal to 

abstain.
253

  Dobrynin could be forgiven for thinking that he was now the one being strung 

along.  Then the truth came out.  The Soviet decision to abstain from the ceasefire vote 

“did not fill us with ecstasy,” admitted Kissinger.
254

  “Well, nothing really…nothing 

followed after this,” Dobrynin replied.
255

  Support for rival Middle Eastern nations was 

straining détente as well as the Kissinger-Dobrynin relationship.   

 

Saturday, October 13 

 At 7:55 p.m. Kissinger confronted Dobrynin about a Soviet airlift: “…we cannot 

not supply our friends while you are supplying yours.”
256

  He claimed that up to that 

point no American planes had landed in Israel.
257

  (According to Thornton, Kissinger was 

telling the truth; although the Israelis had been asking for help for three days, the White 
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House had resisted out of fear that an airlift would lead to an overwhelming Israeli 

victory and thereby destroy Washington’s role as an international peacemaker.
258

  Benny 

Morris speculated that Tel Aviv may have applied pressure by threatening to resort to 

nuclear weapons if they ran out of conventional arms.
259

)  Then on an ominous note for 

détente, a frustrated Kissinger asked:  “Why do we have to deal with you,…why not deal 

with Sadat directly[?]”
260

  Dobrynin answered that it was “Up to you and the President to 

decide,” but that it could have “disastrous results.”
261

   

 

Sunday, October 14 

 The following afternoon at 12:36 p.m., Kissinger told Dobrynin that the US had 

started airlifting supplies to the Israelis.
262

  It would stop as soon as a ceasefire was 

declared if the Soviets would also halt their airlift to the Arabs.
263

  Kissinger also 

reiterated the dangers to détente posed by the ongoing situation, and Dobrynin likewise 

had a warning in regard to their conversation the previous evening: 

K: You know, Anatol, we all know now what is at stake because if this 

goes on much longer, … 

 

D: Well, __________ if you had a chance to read my telegram [to 

Moscow] what I sent yesterday it was exactly what I am told. [by 

Kissinger] 

 

K: No, no I…. 

 

D: I make my own reservations of course, but it was a direct quotation 

everything you said.  It is not only fair, but it is important for them to 
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know the mood.  At a certain point of our usual thing, I don’t do direct 

quotations, but a summary, I make it.  But yesterday I was rather in a 

detail of what you said because this is what I feel…
264

 

 

Normally Dobrynin simply summarized his discussions with Kissinger when he reported 

to Moscow.  Indeed Kissinger probably owed Dobrynin a debt of gratitude for censoring 

some of the Secretary of State’s more bombastic rhetoric over the years.   However, 

Dobrynin deemed Kissinger’s threat to deal directly with Sadat and thereby cut Moscow 

entirely out of the peace process as serious enough to merit a direct quote to the Kremlin.   

 

Tuesday, October 16 

 As tensions neared the breaking point, word came from Oslo that Kissinger and 

Le Duc Tho had been honored with the Nobel Peace Prize for their efforts at ending the 

Vietnam War.  At 11:42 a.m. Dobrynin offered his congratulations: 

D: I hope I will be invited to the party. 

 

K: What party? 

 

D: Which you are going to give in connection with the award of the Nobel 

Prize. 

 

K: I figure it like Groucho Marx said, “Any club that took him in, he does 

not want to join.”  I would say anything that Le Duc Tho is eligible for 

there must be something wrong with it. 

 

Then later… 

 

D: It does not matter about the present difficulties.  I am sure we will 

come out of this - - both of our countries… 

 

K: …I don’t see what you and I, our countries, can gain in the Middle East 

compared to what we can lose and therefore we cannot let these maniacal 

parties drive us into confrontation. 
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D: This is the reason I am calling you.  To congratulate you.  This is for 

the second prize. 

 

K: Right. 

 

D: For the second Nobel Prize for you next year. 

 

K: Good.  We will aim for that.
265

  (italics mine) 

 

The effect of past diplomatic successes on Kissinger and Dobrynin should not be 

underestimated.  Their shared experiences with SALT, Vietnam, and elsewhere provided 

reassurance that they would overcome the current crisis in the Middle East as well.  

 

Friday, October 19 

 During an epic tank battle on the Sinai Peninsula, the Israelis drove between the 

Egyptian Second Army in the north and the Third Army in the south, eventually reaching 

the western side of the Suez Canal.
266

  The Third army was in danger of being completely 

surrounded and annihilated.
267

  Only the depleted First Army remained to protect 

Cairo.
268

  If the Israelis scored another overwhelming victory as in 1967, Soviet influence 

in the Middle East could be destroyed.
269

  For a change, Kissinger let Dobrynin do most 

of the talking as the latter read a message from Brezhnev to Nixon at 11:04 a.m.: 

D: “Dear Mr. President: 

  The events in the Middle East become more and more 

dangerous.  Our two powers, as we have both agreed, must do the utmost 

in order to keep the events from going beyond the limits, when they could 

take even more dangerous turn.” 

 

K: Right. 
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D:  “If they develop along this way there is a danger that harm could be 

done even to the immediate relations between the Soviet Union and the 

United States.  We believe that neither you, nor we want to see it…” 

 

K: Right. 

 

D: “Since time is essential and now not only every day but every hour 

counts,” 

 

K: Right. 

 

D: “my colleagues and I suggest that the US Secretary of State and your 

closest associate Dr. Kissinger comes in an urgent manner to Moscow to 

conduct appropriate negotiations with him as with your authorized 

personal representative.  It would be good if he could come tomorrow, 

October 20.  I will appreciate your speedy reply. 

  Sincerely, L. Brezhnev, October 19, 1973” 

 

K: You are friendly, aren’t you? 

 

D: Hum? 

 

K: That’s a friendly suggestion. 

 

D: Of course it is.
270

 

 

The more easy-going Kissinger obviously enjoyed teasing Dobrynin about the formal 

manner in which he sometimes conducted himself.  Half an hour later after conferring 

with Nixon, Kissinger said that the White House had agreed “in principle” to accept the 

Soviet invitation.
271

  “Will you come back there [to Moscow] with me,” asked 

Kissinger.
272

  “Yes, if you don’t mind I would like to go both ways,” Dobrynin replied.
273

  

“Well, as long as you sit in the front compartment,” joked Kissinger.
274

  “All right.  I 

would rather sit in the tail but nevertheless,” laughed Dobrynin.
275
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The ongoing international crisis was occurring simultaneously with a domestic 

constitutional crisis,
276

 further demonstrating the importance of the backchannel.  The 

day after the above conversation was October 20, 1973 – date of the so-called “Saturday 

Night Massacre.”  Watergate Special Prosecutor Archibald Cox had demanded the full 

release of the White House tapes concerning the Watergate break-in.
277

  Nixon offered to 

provide summaries of the tapes instead of transcripts, but Cox refused.
278

  When Nixon 

ordered Attorney General Elliot Richardson to fire Cox, Richardson refused and 

resigned.
279

  When Deputy Attorney General William Ruckelshaus also refused to fire 

Cox, he was fired.
280

  Finally, Solicitor General Robert Bork agreed to remove Cox.
281

  

Nixon had acted decisively in coming to the aid of the Israelis, but he was no longer in 

any position to handle international affairs.   

 Kissinger’s visit to Moscow was successful.  On Sunday, October 21, he and 

Brezhnev drafted a cease-fire proposal.
282

  At 12:52 a.m.
283

 (Washington time) on 

Monday, October 22, the UN Security Council passed resolution #338 sponsored by both 

the US and USSR calling for a ceasefire.
284

  But before returning to Washington, 

Kissinger accepted the request of Prime Minister Golda Meir to first stop in Israel.
285

  

While there he intimated that the Israelis need not comply with the ceasefire at the exact 
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time that it was supposed to go into effect, twelve hours after adoption.
286

  He had given 

tacit permission for Israel to continue fighting, a move which would have grave 

consequences shortly thereafter.
287

   

 

Wednesday, October 24 

 “Anatol, the madmen in the Middle East seem to be at it again,” Kissinger 

lamented at 9:45 a.m.
288

  Israeli activity had supposedly ceased on the west bank of the 

Suez canal, but now Israel was claiming that the Egyptians were attacking them on the 

east bank.
289

  Kissinger told Dobrynin that the US had warned both sides to stop any 

offensive actions.
290

  Then at ten after ten in the morning, Kissinger said that the US was 

sending in its military observers from Tel Aviv to verify that the Israelis were only 

making defensive moves.
291

  Perhaps sensing Dobrynin’s concern, Kissinger reminded 

his colleague of what was at stake: “Now the important thing is for you and us to stay 

together having made this historic achievement [the ceasefire].”
292

  “Now this is the 

point,” replied Dobrynin.
293

  Five minutes later Kissinger reported that according to the 

Israelis all fighting had ceased.
294

  He added that the US would send ten military 

observers to the battle zone for about forty-eight hours until the UN observers arrived.
295

   

What transpired over the next several hours would draw the United States and the 

Soviet Union closer to war than at any time since the Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962.  
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Around 1:00 p.m. Sadat sent Nixon a message accusing the Israelis of violating the cease-

fire.
296

  Shortly thereafter, the Egyptian government announced that it was seeking a 

Security Council meeting to request US and Soviet troops be sent to the Middle East.
297

  

This was the last thing Kissinger wanted, particularly in such a potentially explosive 

region.  In his words, “The makings of a crisis were appearing.”
298

 

At 3:35 p.m. that afternoon, Dobrynin read a telegram from Soviet Foreign 

Minister Andrei Gromyko.
299

  Egyptian and Soviet sources were claiming that fighting 

was continuing on the Israeli side: “Therefore, information given by Israel to the White 

House is Israel stop fighting is false,” read Dobrynin.
300

  “Please immediately inform Dr. 

Kissinger of the false information and put information before the President,” he added.
301

   

By 7:00 p.m. Washington time, the Soviet leadership decided that more extreme 

measures were warranted.
302

  The Israelis had completely surrounded the Egyptian Third 

Army on the Sinai Peninsula, leaving little in the way of a direct assault on Cairo.
303

  

Likewise, Damascus was threatened on the eastern front.
304

  Moscow could not allow 

their Arab clients to be defeated again, consequently the Soviets instructed their UN 

representative to support a resolution directing American and Soviet troops to the war 

zone, provided someone else (presumably Egypt) introduced it.
305

  At 7:25 p.m. Kissinger 

spoke to Dobrynin and the day’s tensions boiled over:    
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K: I have been talking to the President and we really want to urge you not 

to push matters to an extreme because we will veto any resolution that 

calls for sending over any military forces.  What we need is more 

observers. 

 

D: …I mentioned to you when I was in Moscow it was completely out of 

the question to send any troops.  Now they have become so angry they 

want troops. 

 

K: Why through us.  What was achieved? 

 

D: You allowed the Israelis to do what they wanted. 

 

K: When this operation started I pleaded with you to get people to return 

from the lines and it took a week.  

 

D: It [the ceasefire] was already agreed upon by you and Brezhnev.... 

 

K: Be that as it may, if you want confrontation we will have to have one...   

 

D: You know we don’t want to have a confrontation.  

 

K: It is inevitable that there will be mutual charges in the first 24 hours of 

a ceasefire.  We introduced two joint resolutions….
306

 (italics mine) 

 

Kissinger correctly stated that the US sought a ceasefire as soon as hostilities had broken 

out and while Israel was on the defensive.  He was also probably correct that there would 

be a few residual skirmishes after a ceasefire went into effect (leaving out that he may 

have encouraged such activities).  Nevertheless, although the Soviets initially had resisted 

a ceasefire, now that the Arabs were on the defensive Moscow wanted it enforced. 

 The Soviets sent another letter to Washington at 9:35 p.m.
307

  “Kissinger sounded 

nervous as I read to him Brezhnev’s message over our confidential telephone line,” wrote 

Dobrynin.
308

  The Soviets were threatening to act even if the US did not join them in 
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enforcing the ceasefire.
309

  Kissinger proceeded to call an emergency meeting of the 

Washington Special Actions Group (WSAG) for 10:30 p.m.
310

  At 10:15 p.m. he told 

Dobrynin that the White House was reviewing the latest Soviet offer: 

K: We are assembling our people to consider your letter.  I just wanted 

you to know if any unilateral action is taken before we have had a chance 

to reply that will be very serious. 

 

D: Yes, all right. 

 

K: This is a matter of great concern.  Don’t you pressure us.  I want to 

repeat again, don’t pressure us! 

 

D: All right.
311

 

 

The discovery by U.S. intelligence that the Soviets had mobilized and put seven airborne 

divisions on alert further indicated that the situation had truly reached a crisis point.
312

 

Fearing imminent, unilateral military action by the Soviets to enforce the 

ceasefire, the US put its forces on a DefCon3 or “Defense Condition” world-wide nuclear 

alert at 11:41 p.m.
313

  Some alleged that Nixon made the move to distract attention from 

his ongoing tug-of-war with Congress over the White House tapes.
314

  However, due to 

the President’s distraction with Watergate, it was Kissinger who led the White House 

meeting, issued the alert, and generally handled the crisis in the Middle East.
315

   

The Soviet threat to intervene drove the Americans to pressure Israel to stop its 

advance and allow the Third Egyptian Army to be resupplied.
316

  Concerned that if the 
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Israelis achieved a total victory they would refuse to return any of the occupied 

territories, Kissinger threatened to cut off military aid unless they accepted a ceasefire.
317

 

 

Thursday, October 25 

 Cooler heads eventually prevailed.  The next morning at 5:40 a.m., the White 

House sent a letter to Brezhnev with an offer to send US and Soviet observers as well as 

UN forces.
318

  At 3:40 p.m. Dobrynin called Kissinger with Brezhnev’s reply: 

K: Anatoly? 

 

D: Hello Henry.  I would like to read to you a letter from Brezhnev to the 

President and then I will send you… 

 

K: Is it going to calm me down or make me go into orbit again? 

 

D: No, not orbit…Prefer to stay in orbit quietly…[reading Brezhnev’s 

letter] Since you are ready now, as we understand it, now to send to Egypt 

a group of American observers, we agree to it jointly in this question.  

Soviet group of observers instructed to get into contact immediately in a 

businesslike operation with the US group of observers…
319

   

 

After Dobrynin finished reading the letter Kissinger said, “I thought you were threatening 

us.  Don’t …I take threats very badly.  We will talk about it sometime.”
320

  Dobrynin 

agreed, “No, [it] isn’t anything to discuss now…”
321

   

A potential disaster had been narrowly averted.  But what caused this colossal 

misunderstanding?  The success of détente thus far had been in large part due to a sense 

of trust and empathy built up over several years between Kissinger and Dobrynin.  

Established practice had been that nothing was said publicly or even at the traditional 
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diplomatic level without first being discussed in the backchannel.  The last thing 

Dobrynin heard was at 10:15 p.m. on Wednesday the 24
th

 when Kissinger said the White 

House was considering the Soviet offer.  Nothing else had been forthcoming until 4:00 

a.m., and even then no mention was made of putting the country on an alert.
322

  The 

prospect of Soviet ground forces in the Middle East shocked the White House, leading 

Nixon and Kissinger to believe that past diplomatic procedure no longer applied. The 

absence of communication through the backchannel represented a breakdown in the 

process and almost proved fatal for relaxing tensions.   

 

Saturday, October 27 

At 11:24 a.m. Kissinger and Dobrynin finally had an opportunity to discuss at 

greater length the disaster which had almost occurred over the previous couple of days: 

K: We had the impression that you were planning a military move.  We 

did not invent this.  Someday soon we have to discuss this.  We had no 

reason to meet until 4:00 in the morning. 

 

D: …On this, I think, one thing was really a big blunder on your [side], 

maybe it was deliberate.  For six hours you are just telling us every hour to 

wait, there will be a reply.  I am sure if you had just mentioned to me that 

the President feels it was necessary to make an alert…[and] blow up our 

relations… 

 

K: That was a blunder. 

 

D: Seven hours you were telling us [to wait] and then we receive a letter 

that didn’t say a word about the alert.  It was widely publicized.   

 

K: Whether you ever believe it or not it is not important now.  I am telling 

you it was not…we were convinced you were planning something 

unilateral.  We were as [outraged].  We thought the tone in that letter…. 
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D: You were pretty sure we would do it.  If you were so sure, you could 

have waited one hour to get some additional information from Brezhnev.  

But you didn’t want to have it. 

 

K: That isn’t true.  I was very tough.  [I said] Don’t pressure us.  I sent you 

two or three messages to please don’t do anything unilateral. 

 

D: Exactly. 

 

K: You could have said what makes you think we will do anything 

unilateral.  We have no intention of taking action. 

 

D: What you said was to wait for a reply.  I sent four telegrams to Moscow 

-- this was a unique situation -- to wait for a reply from the President.  

What did they receive...Someday in Moscow…much more easy to discuss. 

 

K: We very truly thought you were threatening us out of the…. 

 

D: Exactly, you have it with us.  Wait for the reply.  By the way nothing 

was said…
323

 

 

Kissinger seemed regretful for what he admitted had been “a horrible 

misunderstanding.”
324

  He also sought to repair the personal relationship: “Too much is at 

stake for us to be angry with each other.”
325

  Dobrynin said that he had only been angry 

“for two days,” but that anger in Moscow was “still very high.”
326

  He claimed that 

Kissinger later admitted that calling the alert had been a mistake.
327

 

 The October 1973 Arab-Israeli War had several long-term effects.  First, the 

Soviets removed any doubt that they could deliver arms and supplies around the world in 

a relatively short time.
328

  This had implications for further interventions throughout the 

1970s.  Second, in 1973 eleven of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries 

(OPEC) instituted an oil embargo on nations deemed too friendly to Israel, including the 
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US.
329

  When the embargo ended the next year, OPEC had increased oil prices by three 

hundred percent, contributing to inflation throughout the decade.
330

  As a leading oil-

exporting nation, the Soviet Union benefitted from the higher petroleum prices, allowing 

Moscow to increase military spending at the same time that Washington was reducing its 

by about fifty percent.
331

  However, the amount of wealth that the Soviets obtained from 

petroleum and natural gas also served as a disincentive to developing other sources of 

economic vitality through science and technology.
332

 

Were détente and the Kissinger-Dobrynin relationship vindicated during the 

October War?  Both had complicated matters by prolonging the fighting when their 

respective allies appeared to have the upper hand.
333

  Kissinger admitted that détente “had 

not prevented a crisis,” and that both Washington and Moscow attempted to “reduce the 

role and influence” of the other.
334

  However, he also explained that détente “defined not 

friendship but a strategy for a relationship between adversaries.”
335

  Dobrynin argued that 

the Soviet Union and the United States “cooperated in bringing the war to an end,” but 

likewise conceded that they “sought to manipulate events to serve their own ends and to 

extend their own influence in the Middle East.”
336

  Although he believed that both 

nations wanted to prevent the war from affecting their relationship, he suggested that 
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Kissinger was “prepared to use and even sacrifice this relationship to reduce and if 

possible eliminate Soviet influence in the Middle East under the cover of détente.”
337

   

To some extent Kissinger was successful.  By forcing Israel to retreat when Cairo 

appeared about to fall, the US showed Sadat that it could apply pressure on its ally.
338

 

Thereafter the US and Egypt resumed diplomatic relations on November 7 after a six-

year hiatus.
339

  Kissinger’s “shuttle diplomacy” then resulted in the Egyptians and Israelis 

signing a cease-fire agreement on November 11 and returning to the positions they had 

occupied on October 22.
340

  Subsequent agreements in January, 1974, and September, 

1975, resulted in partial Israeli withdrawals from the Sinai.
341

  Kissinger also oversaw an 

agreement in May, 1974, whereby the Israelis partially withdrew from the Golan Heights 

in Syria.
342

   

Eventually it was President Carter who helped to engineer a long-term Egyptian-

Israeli peace at Camp David in September, 1978.
343

  By signing the Camp David Accords 

in 1979 and acknowledging Israel’s right to exist, Sadat regained the rest of the Sinai as 

well as earned a Nobel Peace Prize (with Israeli Prime Minister Menachem Begin.)
344

 

 

Angola 

The US-Soviet proxy war in Angola marked a crucial turning point for détente.  

After acquiring naval and air bases in South Yemen, Moscow enhanced its ability to 
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intervene in Africa, which then emerged as a new battlefield in the Cold War.
345

 As in 

Vietnam, Soviet actions were driven in part by competition with the Chinese, who by 

1975 had established relationships with Zambia, Tanzania, Zaire, and Mozambique.
346

   

Oil-rich Angola, a former Portuguese colony for 500 years,
347

 represented another 

of the revolutionary movements on the continent which were either communist or 

nationalist and shared Moscow’s disdain for Western imperialism.
348

  Soviet economic 

and military aid, protection, and “political models” were some of the benefits of this 

common outlook.
349

  Arbatov classified such direct military assistance to liberation 

movements as an example of Soviet “errors and political miscalculations, which were 

strongly in evidence from the mid-1970s on.”
350

  He also described the policy as “loaded 

with revolutionary jargon and closely intertwined with imperial ambitions.”
351

  Soviet 

foreign policy specialist Andrei M. Alexandrov even likened Angola to the Spanish Civil 

War of the 1930s, and believed intervening represented “our internationalist duty.”
352

 

Dobrynin suggested that Angola “raised the question of whether détente had any 

general rules outside our mutual behavior toward each other, and if so, what they 

were.”
353

  For Kissinger the issue was not Marxism.
354

  He claimed that when 

Mozambique gained independence from Portugal under the Marxist Front for the 

Liberation of Mozambique (FRELIMO), Washington extended recognition and 
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established diplomatic relations.
355

  However, he viewed Angola as problematic because 

it represented “the projection of Soviet military power into Africa.”
356

  

 

According to Dobrynin, the International Department of the Communist Party of 

the Soviet Union (CPSU) used the Portuguese Communist Party (PCP) to first establish 

contact with and then provide support to the Angolan liberation movement.
357

  One of the 

most reliably obedient parties to Moscow, the PCP had even backed Soviet actions 

against Finland in 1939 and the invasion of Hungary in 1956.
358

  In the 1950s the PCP 

created the Popular Movement for the Liberation of Angola (MPLA).
359

  Thus it is 

possible that the Angolan revolution in 1959 was initiated by Moscow and carried out at 

                                                
355 Ibid. 
356 Ibid. 
357 Dobrynin, In Confidence, 367. 
358 Brian Crozier, The Rise and Fall of the Soviet Empire (Rocklin, California: Prima Publishing, 1999), 

233. 
359 Ibid. 



213 

 

least in part by the PCP.
360

  Alongside the rebellion against colonial rule, the pro-

communist MPLA and the anti-communist National Union for the Total Liberation of 

Angola (UNITA) had fought a civil war since the early 1960s.
361

   

1974 was a pivotal year in the fortunes of Angola.  On April 25, the fascist regime 

of Antonio de Oliveira Salazar was overthrown in a military coup in Portugal.
362

  General 

Antonio Spinola led the new government
363

 which included Alvaro Cunhal, a PCP leader 

who in February had been honored with the Order of the October Revolution while in 

Moscow.
364

  In June, Portugal and the Soviet Union established diplomatic relations.
365

 

The next month the Portuguese army withdrew from Angola.
366

  Finally, in January, 

1975, Angola’s competing factions agreed to form a government and hold elections.
367

   

However, fighting broke out before any votes could be cast.  Predictably, the 

superpowers backed their respective ideological allies.  The Soviets supported the 

MPLA, led by former medical student and convert to Marxism Agostinho Neto.
368

  

Meanwhile, the Americans adopted UNITA as well as a third group, the National Front 

for the Liberation of Angola (FNLA).
369
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Brezhnev believed that Soviet involvement in Angola was “just,” but it also 

presented an opportunity to show China that the Soviet Union was still the leader of 

international communism.
370

  Meanwhile Ford and Kissinger viewed American 

involvement as critical to re-establish US credibility after the loss of Vietnam.
371

  Once 

again, the United States was being driven by its own ideological impulses to respond to 

what it viewed as the further spread of communism across the globe.  

Several events during 1975 prompted Ford and Kissinger to dramatically increase 

the US role in Angola.  Sometime in the spring, perhaps as early as March, but probably 

no later than May, Cuban advisers arrived to train the MPLA in the use of Soviet tanks 

and weapons.
372

  On April 17, Lon Nol’s US-backed government fell to the communist 

Khmer Rouge in Cambodia.
373

  On April 19, Zambia’s President Kenneth Kaunda 

requested Ford and Kissinger intervene in Angola to counter the Soviet Union and protect 

his and other African nations.
374

  By the end of the month, Vietnam was united under a 

communist regime.
375

  Later that summer, communists took complete control of Laos as 

well.
376

  To some, these events showed that the tide was turning against US interests as 

more countries aligned with the Soviet bloc, particularly in the General Assembly of the 

United Nations.
377

  For Gates, 1975 was “the worst year in CIA’s history.”
378

    

Cuban involvement clearly affected Kissinger.  He viewed those in the State 

Department and elsewhere who opposed intervention as suffering from “the Vietnam 
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syndrome,” referring to fears that US involvement would lead to a recreation of the long, 

drawn-out struggle in Southeast Asia.
379

  He reasoned that a diplomatic solution would 

not be enough to counter the Soviets and the Cubans.
380

  Consequently Ford and 

Kissinger increased military support to FNLA and UNITA from hundreds of thousands to 

millions of dollars.
381

  Beginning in July, both factions received armored personnel 

carriers, surface-to-air anti-aircraft missiles, mortars, rifles, machine guns and other 

supplies and equipment from the CIA.
382

  By September, the amount of aid had risen 

from an initial $14-$17 million to approximately $25 million.
383

   

The introduction of Cuban combat troops was a crucial turning point in the 

Angolan intervention, détente, and the Cold War.  Although the Cuban military had been 

involved in numerous African nations ever since Fidel Castro’s revolution in 1959, 

previous military contingents usually never exceeded several hundred.
384

  However, by 

the end of September at the latest, the first of thousands of combat troops from Havana 

arrived in Angola.
385

  Moscow had used military force in Eastern Europe, but Angola 

represented the first time Soviet military power had been applied (albeit through a proxy) 

into a civil war on the side of a pro-Soviet faction.
386

   

Despite increased US aid, Jonas Savimbi of UNITA claimed he needed more.  If 

Washington would not help, he threatened to appeal to apartheid South Africa, thus 
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turning Angola into a diplomatic and public relations catastrophe.
387

  Kissinger never 

admitted to working with South Africa, but according to the CIA there was 

communication and sharing of intelligence between Washington and Pretoria (Defense 

Minister P.W. Botha also reported that the US had asked for assistance.)
388

  On October 

14, South Africa invaded Angola in an attack on the Soviet-backed MPLA in the south, 

eventually reaching 500 miles inside of the war-ravaged country.
389

   

For the sake of American credibility around the world, Ford and Kissinger 

believed that they had to press forward.
390

  Since the amount in its contingency fund had 

fallen to a mere seven million dollars, the CIA sought Congressional approval.
391

  

However, agency director William Colby’s testimony on November 6 before the Senate 

Foreign Relations Committee revealed that Congress had not been fully informed about 

either the extent or the details of US involvement in Angola.
392

  Senator Dick Clark of 

Iowa, recently returned from a visit to the war-torn nation, declared that the CIA and 

White House had lied about the extent of the American role and charged that US actions 

had drawn Cuba and South Africa into the conflict.
393

  California Senator John Tunney 

later sponsored the Clark Amendment cutting off CIA funding for covert operations in 

Angola,
394

 adding “’I don’t want to see any more money go down this rat hole.’”
395
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By November there were approximately 4,000 Cuban combat troops in Angola.
396

  

Although originally transported on Cuban planes and ships, that month the Soviets began 

providing long-range aircraft.
397

  The MPLA took the capital of Luanda and declared the 

independence of the People’s Republic of Angola on November 12.
398

   

 Meanwhile, Kissinger and Dobrynin worked in the backchannel, discussing the 

matter several times during October and November.
399

  On December 9, Ford told 

Dobrynin that détente was being jeopardized by Soviet actions in Angola.
400

  The next 

day the Soviets suspended their airlift,
401

 and Kissinger and Dobrynin addressed the 

influx of arms from surrounding nations: 

K: …We cannot think of any other solution except to ask outside countries 

to promise not to send more arms in.  If you are worried about the border 

in Zaire, we are willing to consider a UN force there.  We promise you we 

would exercise restraint on our part and to get all foreign forces out. 

 

D: …The question really is in this case not very easy to control.  It is in 

the capital of the country and no one knows where they are. 

 

K: But look it will be easily known if something comes in or not.  If we 

don’t keep our word, that will affect our relationship. 

 

D: Do you have any ideas if Africa could do something?  It is their 

business.  It is not natural for us really. 

 

K: No, but the way we could do it is to have the Organization of African 

Unity ask all outside powers, you see, and then we would both have an 

excuse to do it… 

 

However, there remained one wildcard: 

 

D: Who is going to control South Africa? 
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K: We have nothing to do directly with South Africa, but we would bring 

major pressure on them. 

 

D: But if they continue? 

 

K: Look, we are trying to win.  We are trying to get everybody out of it.
402

 

 

Describing a mutual pullout as a “win” represented quite a lowering of expectations for 

Kissinger.  He may have already given up hope of receiving further funding to displace 

the MPLA, and instead sought a face-saving measure to limit the damage to US prestige.  

Kissinger suggested to Dobrynin that if the US and the USSR would support an appeal 

from the Organization of African Unity to have all three factions begin talks, it could lead 

to a political solution.
403

  Dobrynin seemed hesitant: “The question is themselves.  

Whether they are going to take this from us.”
404

  “I think if the two of us agree, we can 

get them to agree,” replied Kissinger.
405

   

A little over a week later, the Clark Amendment passed the Senate by a 54-22 

vote on December 19.
406

  An irate Ford lambasted the upper house: “’This abdication of 

responsibility by a majority of the Senate will have the gravest consequences for the 

long-term position of the United States and for international order in general.’”
407

  The 

vote and leaked information concerning previous CIA covert activity in Angola may have 

encouraged the Soviets to step up their efforts.
408

  After a brief pause from December 9 to 

25, Moscow resumed its transport of Cuban arms and troops.
409
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 With the arrival of the election year 1976, a favorable outcome in Angola took on 

an even greater importance for the White House.  On January 3, Ford stated in an 

interview with NBC that Soviet actions in Angola violated the principles of détente.
410

  

On the 9
th

, Kissinger told Dobrynin that the lack of progress in Angola would force him 

to “make some bloody statements about the conditions…which can not be in your 

interest.”
411

  Kissinger seemed to be implying that the situation could affect his planned 

visit to Moscow to discuss the SALT II treaty as well as its chances for ratification 

thereafter.  Dobrynin appeared threatened and the conversation grew tense: 

D: We are not…we have never considered it [Angola] a test of strength or 

will but you… 

 

K: No, it is on the part of Congress. 

 

D: It has nothing to do with Congress…you are forcing this issue…We 

have to make a test of will between you and the Secretary General whether 

you will come if something happens in Angola?...Either Brezhnev has to 

agree to what Henry wants or the whole SALT issue is in the air.  

 

Then later… 

 

K: I was hoping we could settle this thing quietly since neither of us have 

an overwhelming interest in Angola.  

 

D: Exactly.  But you are forcing the point.
412

 (italics mine) 

 

Perhaps no other conversation in the telcons better demonstrated the divergent views of 

the United States and the Soviet Union on détente.  Kissinger insisted that the Soviets end 

their support for the MPLA, even after saying that Angola was of little strategic interest 

to the US.  However, the White House believed Soviet and Cuban intent on aiding the 

MPLA made the country strategic.  This exchange demonstrated how both superpowers 
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viewed the outcomes of various conflicts in the developing world as indications of whose 

ideology was “winning.”  Ford and Kissinger were determined that Moscow would not 

“win” in Angola – not after Vietnam and especially not in an election year.   

An increasingly frustrated Dobrynin then challenged Kissinger: “OK.  You do it.  

You make a test.  If you equate Angola to détente that is your business.  If you feel it is 

that important, ok.  We don’t think it is...I will send to Brezhnev that you will have to 

take into consideration that you may not come because of Angola.”
413

  To which 

Kissinger responded, “No, I said that the conditions that are being created are not helpful 

ones,” and “we trust that you are not working in a direction that during my visit things 

will happen that will be humiliating to the United States.”
414

  Although Kissinger 

eventually did travel to Moscow on January 20, 1976, there was no long-term agreement 

on Angola or SALT II.
415

   

As expected, the House approved the Clark Amendment to the defense spending 

bill 323-99 on January 27, cutting off all CIA funding for Angola.
416

  Although Ford 

supported the CIA’s actions in Africa, he reluctantly signed the legislation in February 

because it also funded the B-1 bomber, the Trident missile, and the cruise missile.
417

  The 

Clark Amendment was later repealed during the Reagan administration.
418

 

 By March of 1976 the MPLA emerged victorious.
 419

  At the end of 1977 there 

were 20,000 Cuban soldiers in Angola.
420

  A conservative estimate of the cost of the 
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Soviet intervention was $300 million, about ten times what the Americans spent, and this 

only included the cost of equipment – not troops.
421

  The ability to fund such an operation 

indicated that the Soviet economy, while perhaps only 50-60% as large as that of the US, 

nevertheless could provide Moscow with numerous international opportunities.  The 

Soviet Union had demonstrated to other liberation movements, the Chinese, and the 

Americans that it could intervene in support of its interests anywhere around the world.
422

   

 However, as Dobrynin explained the price for this victory was high because 

Angola “soured Americans on détente.”
423

  He claimed that the Soviet embassy attempted 

to tell Moscow that Washington viewed Angola as “a test of détente,” but that these 

warnings went unheeded by “the morally self-righteous” in the Kremlin.
424

 

 Foreign interventions were the coup de grace for détente.  Although the policy 

limped on for another few years into the Carter Administration, the Soviet invasion of 

Afghanistan in 1979 was the last straw.  Through the backchannel, Kissinger and 

Dobrynin had established empathy and achieved numerous diplomatic successes.  

However, the telephone transcripts show that even at a détente, both the United States 

and the Soviet Union continued to view themselves as a nation and a cause, complicating 

the work of diplomacy.  Ultimately, Kissinger and Dobrynin were unable to reconcile the 

conflicts between their respective national ideologies, and détente became little more than 

a short respite from the Cold War. 
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CONCLUSION 

The Role of Relationships 

“He understood that a reputation for reliability is an important asset in foreign policy.  

Subtle and disciplined, warm in his demeanor while wary in his conduct, Dobrynin 

moved through the upper echelons of Washington with consummate skill.”
1
 

-Henry Kissinger 

 

“To Henry, opponent, partner, friend.”
2
 

-Anatoly Dobrynin’s inscription on a copy of his memoirs presented to Kissinger.  

 

When détente ended along with the 1970s, the chances of a return to relaxing 

tensions appeared remote.  No one seemed less likely to resume détente with the Soviet 

Union than Ronald Reagan, who was elected President of the United States in 1980.  At 

his first presidential press conference Reagan called détente “a one-way street”
3
 which he 

believed the Soviet Union had exploited to acquire a strategic and geopolitical advantage 

over the United States.   

Supporters of this view would argue that in addition to maintaining superiority in 

ICBMs and SLBMs (but not bombers) throughout the 1970s, in 1977 the Soviets had 

deployed new tactical nuclear missiles in Eastern Europe, the SS-20s.
4
  These 

intermediate range ballistic missiles (IRBMs) with multiple warheads were capable of 

hitting Western European capitals, thus enhancing Moscow’s regional nuclear 

advantage.
5
  Left unchecked, such developments presented the theoretical possibility of 

the “Finlandization” of Europe, a reference to Finland’s perceived acquiescence to the 
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neighboring Soviet Union on foreign policy in exchange for maintaining some measure 

of domestic sovereignty.  If Europe as a whole felt compelled to take a similar path, it 

could split the North Atlantic Treaty Alliance (NATO) and leave the United States 

diplomatically isolated.  Some Western European governments including Great Britain 

and West Germany were so concerned that they requested NATO to respond with a 

similar deployment of its own, which it did in 1983.   

In addition to the changes in the US-Soviet relationship, there were significant 

global developments as well.  The “convergence theory” of liberal economist John 

Kenneth Galbraith postulated that multinational corporations in the West and communist 

state enterprises would become increasingly similar.
6
  Such a view implied that 

communism remained a viable economic system and may have even been superior to 

capitalism in terms of managing industrial development.
7
  Furthermore, around the world 

ten additional countries had adopted communist governments from 1975-1980.  By the 

end of the decade Freedom House, a non-governmental organization (NGO) tracking the 

progress of democracy, noted that autocratic regimes of both the left and the right 

outnumbered democratic ones 2:1.  French conservative scholar Jean-Francois Revel 

even warned of a “totalitarian temptation,” arguing that many had come to believe 

dictatorships might be better suited to provide for people’s needs than liberal democracies 

could.
8
  

President Carter increased US defense spending as well as aid to the Mujahideen 

rebels fighting the Soviets in Afghanistan.  However, Reagan’s first term was marked by 
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still greater increases in both as well as declarations of ideological warfare including 

describing the Soviet Union as an “Evil Empire.”  Nevertheless, beginning in 1985 he 

and new Soviet General Secretary Mikhail Gorbachev held the first of four summits.  

Two years later they signed the Intermediate Range Nuclear Forces (INF) treaty whereby 

both the United States and the Soviet Union agreed to eliminate an entire class of nuclear 

weapons.  Additional negotiations commenced to drastically reduce – not simply limit – 

long-range strategic weapons, culminating in the 1991 Strategic Arms Reductions Treaty 

(START I) after Reagan left office. Unlike SALT, the START negotiations also included 

verification measures to ensure compliance with any agreement.  US-Soviet relations 

continued to improve until the Soviet Union dissolved and the Cold War ended. 

What happened?  How did the United States and the Soviet Union go “[f]rom the 

second cold war to the second détente”
9
 and ultimately to the end of the Cold War?  It is 

one of the most intensely argued questions in the entire historiography of US-Soviet 

relations.  Some scholars credited Mikhail Gorbachev and his policies of glasnost 

(openness) and perestroika (restructuring).  They pointed to reforms granting Soviet 

citizens a greater role in their government as well as the release of Eastern Europe from 

Moscow’s influence.  However, they also acknowledged that Gorbachev lost control of 

the reform process, ultimately leading to the dissolution of the Union of Soviet Socialist 

Republics.
10

  For many scholars on the left Gorbachev was a great reformer and man of 

peace.  However, observers on the right argued that Gorbachev’s reforms were intended 
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to salvage communism and find a way to make it more competitive with the West.  He 

certainly did not plan to abolish the communist party and the Soviet Union itself.  

Furthermore, critics argued that Gorbachev’s military response to independence 

movements in the Baltic States and elsewhere undermined the notion that he was simply 

a man dedicated to peacefully ending the Cold War. 

Gorbachev’s “new political thinking” about foreign policy was another proposed 

explanation for the Cold War’s end.  Advocates of this view contended that American 

fears of Soviet expansion had driven US-Soviet tensions ever since George Kennan’s 

article “The Sources of Soviet Conduct,” appeared in Foreign Affairs in 1947.  

Consequently, some cited Gorbachev’s removal of ideological considerations from 

foreign policy such as support for the international “class struggle,” as crucial to ending 

the East-West conflict.
11

  This narrative may have appealed to those on the right who 

considered the Soviet Union to be motivated by Marxist-Leninist ideology to establishing 

global domination.  However, for those on the left who believed such concerns to be 

misguided at best and paranoid at worst, this thesis was probably not as satisfying.     

Others argued that none of Gorbachev’s domestic and foreign policy reforms 

would have taken place without the hard-line policies of the first term Reagan 

administration from 1981-1984.  They suggested that the Soviet Union only changed 

course from its aggressive posture after being confronted by counteroffensive measures 

taken by the United States including dramatic increases in defense spending and support 
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for resistance movements in Eastern Europe and elsewhere.  Furthermore, they pointed to 

Reagan’s Strategic Defense Initiative (SDI) as presenting a technological challenge to the 

Soviet offensive nuclear arsenal which Moscow lacked the ability to duplicate.  The 

cumulative effect of these policies was said to have forced Gorbachev to liberalize 

politically and economically, and ultimately led to the dissolution of the Soviet Union 

and the end of the Cold War.
12

  However, some on the left argued that rather than 

bringing about or hastening the Cold War’s end, Reagan’s hard-line stance inflamed 

tensions and dragged the confrontation out longer than it needed to be.  They also pointed 

to the enormous US national debt resulting in part from Reagan’s defense spending.  On 

the other hand, many on the right pointed to several developments in the 1970s including 

the Soviet arms build-up, the use of Cuban surrogates in support of Marxist revolutions in 

the developing world, and the invasion of Afghanistan as evidence that US-Soviet 

relations were already at their nadir by the time Reagan came into office.  Consequently, 

they argued that an aggressive response from the Americans was precisely what was 

required.  Additionally, they contended that the installment of a reformer, Mikhail 

Gorbachev, as General Secretary of the Communist Party demonstrated that Reagan’s 

approach did not result in an equally hard-line response from the Soviets.  

Finally, several observers emphasized the role of personal relationships and trust 

which developed between key American and Soviet officials, somewhat reminiscent of 
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that between Kissinger and Dobrynin via the backchannel over a decade before.  They 

argued that despite Reagan’s reputation as a hard-liner, he was genuinely interested in 

relaxing tensions.  Gaddis claimed that Reagan shocked “his own hard-line supporters” 

when his foreign policy “turned out to be a more solidly based approach to détente than 

anything the Nixon, Ford, or Carter administrations had been able to accomplish.”
13

  

While some in the administration like Secretary of Defense Caspar Weinberger viewed 

Reagan’s arms build-up as an effort to “debilitate the other side,” Gaddis explained that 

Reagan eventually sided with pragmatists like Secretary of State George Schultz in using 

it to compel the Soviets to negotiate.
14

  In fact, Kiron K. Skinner, associate professor of 

International Relations at Carnegie Mellon University and research fellow at the 

conservative Hoover Institution at Stanford University, argued that negotiations with 

Moscow were “as important as the military buildup,” for Reagan’s strategy.
15

   

However, if US-Soviet relations were to improve it required a counterpart on the 

Soviet side.  As Gaddis explained, only when Mikhail Gorbachev became General 

Secretary in 1985 did Reagan have a negotiating partner “imaginative” enough (or who 

lived long enough) with whom to do business.
16

  Jack F. Matlock, Jr., Reagan’s 

ambassador to Moscow, agreed and explained that beginning in 1983 the Reagan 

administration “tried to establish a pattern of discussing new proposals with the Soviet 

Communist Party leader in private before making them public.”
17

  This included the use 

of letters (many hand-written by Reagan personally) as well as meetings between 
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diplomats.
18

  However, “it took two or three years to catch on and be reciprocated,”
19

 

suggesting that real progress did not commence until Gorbachev arrived on the scene. 

By the time of the first Reagan-Gorbachev summit in 1985 at Geneva, 

Gorbachev’s chief foreign policy advisor Anatoli Cherniaev observed “some sort of 

human rapport between the two leaders that gave hope for change.”
20

  Cherniaev added 

that after Reagan’s positive reaction to Gorbachev’s 1986 proposal at Reykjavik to 

eliminate half of all strategic nuclear weapons, “Mutual trust between the two leaders was 

another touchstone of the new political thinking that was crucial in bringing the cold war 

to an end.”
21

  Ultimately, both Reagan and Gorbachev stopped viewing the Cold War as a 

zero-sum game or in the words of Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr. as if “a gain for one side 

was by definition a defeat for the other.”
22

  The old outlook had led not to “negotiation,” 

but rather “to a demand for capitulation,” said Schlesinger.
23

   

However, the change in approach was not limited to the two men at the top.  

Citing the memoirs of numerous Soviet officials as well as archival documents, William 

D. Jackson argued “the interest displayed by the second-term Reagan administration in 

improving relations with Moscow and the personal trust [italics mine] that gradually 

developed in high-level contacts between Soviet and U.S. officials” altered U.S.-Soviet 

relations and led to the end of the Cold War.
24
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Like American and Soviet officials during the Reagan-Gorbachev era, the 

telephone transcripts show that Kissinger and Dobrynin developed a relationship while 

developing détente.  The backchannel had four qualities which helped to facilitate this: 

privacy, durability, ease and frequency of communication, and the personalities of its 

participants. 

As the scholarly literature on back channels has argued, privacy allows 

representatives from opposing sides to begin talks when more strident voices on both 

sides may be opposed to any form of negotiations.  This was certainly true during the 

détente era as relaxing US-Soviet tensions faced opposition from hard-liners in Moscow 

and both liberals and conservatives in Washington.  Additionally, Kissinger and 

Dobrynin worked jointly to keep the substance of their face-to-face meetings and 

telephone calls secret, creating a bond while establishing trust.  

Second, the Kissinger-Dobrynin backchannel had durability.  For eight years, 

Kissinger and Dobrynin were the main point of contact for each other when addressing 

US-Soviet relations.  While previous back channels had dealt with a specific issue or 

emergency, as with the Cuban Missile Crisis in 1962, the Kissinger-Dobrynin 

backchannel was a permanent link between the White House and the Kremlin for all 

aspects of US-Soviet diplomacy.  It lasted through a presidential election in 1972, 

Kissinger’s appointment as Secretary of State in 1973, Nixon’s resignation in 1974, and 

even when Kissinger was stripped of his National Security Advisor duties by President 

Ford in 1975.      

Third, the structure of the backchannel provided an ease and frequency of 

communication unlike any other channel.  Since Dobrynin was stationed at the Soviet 
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embassy in Washington, he could conveniently meet with Kissinger in the Map Room of 

the White House.  Initially they met on a weekly basis, however the frequency increased 

as time went on.  Furthermore, the ease of access provided by the hotline from 

Dobrynin’s office at the Soviet embassy to Kissinger’s office in the White House 

probably encouraged more frequent communication than would have taken place 

otherwise. 

Finally, the backchannel was effective due to the personal chemistry of its 

participants.  This was its most intangible quality, but nevertheless a significant one.  To 

put it simply, Kissinger and Dobrynin “hit it off.”  Dobrynin in particular appreciated 

their shared sense of humor, which he said “helps to reach the heart as well as the mind 

of your partner.”
25

  Indeed, their banter was often comical, occasionally bordering on 

bawdy.  Horne described some of their conversations as more typical of “old college 

roommates” rather than representatives of the superpowers.
26

 

Through a common purpose and shared experience, Kissinger and Dobrynin built 

a relationship and established empathy.  However, empathy does not equal sympathy.  

Ralph K. White, a political scientist and psychologist at George Washington University, 

wrote that empathy is “’simply understanding the thoughts and feelings of others.  It is 

distinguished from sympathy, which is defined as feeling with others – as being in 

agreement with them.’”
27

  Consequently, “’even when a conflict is so intense that 

sympathy is out of the question,’” empathy is nevertheless possible.
28
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Recent scholarship about the failure of détente focused on the issue of empathy.   

As James G. Blight and Janet M. Lang explained, “empathy is a central concept in such 

fields as anthropology (especially ethnography), clinical psychology, and conflict 

resolution, among others,” but not in Cold War historiography.
29

  Nevertheless, they 

contended that the initial March 1977 arms control meeting in Moscow between the new 

Carter administration and the Kremlin was a turning point in US-Soviet relations due to a 

lack of empathy on both sides.  According to Blight and Lang, both the Americans and 

the Soviets agreed that this was the beginning of the mistrust which eventually ended 

détente.
30

   

The authors examined the published proceedings of the Carter-Brezhnev Project, 

part of the Watson Institute for International Studies at Brown University.  A May, 1994, 

conference in Musgrove, Georgia entitled “SALT II and the Growth of Mistrust,” 

featured many of the most significant players from 1977 including President Carter’s 

Secretary of State Cyrus Vance, National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski, 

Dobrynin, and Russian translator Viktor Sukhodrev.  The goals of the conference were to 

identify mistakes, look for missed opportunities, and draw lessons from the 1977 

Moscow summit.
31

  Blight and Lang explained that by using critical oral history, a 

process “combining, in structured conferences, decision-makers, scholars, and 

declassified documents (which provide added accuracy and authenticity to the 

conversation),” the participants were able to establish empathy and “begin to develop the 
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capacity to see pivotal events more or less the way their former adversaries saw them at 

the time.”
32

  Blight and Lang explained that this method “often yields rich and surprising 

insights into what it was really like for decision-makers, then and there, thus yielding 

more accurate analyses and applicable lessons for decision-making, here and now.”
33

  

The inclusion of testimony from both sides, plus questions from scholars “armed with 

declassified documents,” helps to provide greater certainty of what happened, as much as 

this is possible in the search for historical truth.
34

   

The 1994 conference revealed that the Soviets had taken offense at the 1977 

summit when the Americans proposed a much more radical arms limitation agreement 

than the one agreed upon between President Ford and General Secretary Brezhnev at 

Vladivostok in 1974.
35

  The Soviets viewed this as a unilateral change, while the 

Americans were offended at the lack of any counterproposal.
36

  The use of critical oral 

history enabled both sides to understand what the other thought at the time.  Blight and 

Lang concluded that the history of détente could have been more successful if only the 

two sides had been able to see the other’s point of view.
37

 

While at the conference Dobrynin reflected on his experience negotiating in the 

backchannel.  He explained that while it was not a panacea for successful diplomacy, it 

did allow both sides to make proposals in an informal way, and thereby gauge the other’s 

reaction as well as the chances for success: 

I don’t say that it is something of overriding importance, but it has some 

importance.  Specifically in one sense: it gives you a chance to explain 
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things.  It helps provide preliminary explanation of the position of the 

other country.  It’s simple. It doesn’t always matter who the channel is; 

things are decided by the president.  But the backchannel helps elaborate 

on your thinking a bit.  Not always.
38

 

 

However, without this line of communication, Dobrynin claimed that the Soviets were 

unsure of what the Carter administration wanted to do and where they wanted to take the 

relationship:   

There was one situation when the secretary of state [Cyrus Vance] brought 

one proposal-drastic reductions-and someone else brought another one.  

And someone would raise human rights.  It was difficult to know how to 

deal with this [the Carter] administration at all.
39

 

 

In short, Dobrynin explained that the backchannel allowed for elaboration and 

clarification of positions.  “It is important not just to have people come with very big 

proposals, accompanied by some other things which were not acceptable.  You need 

contacts to explain things,” he added.
40

  Although Dobrynin had attempted to initiate 

backchannel negotiations with National Security Advisor Zbigniew Brzezinski, the new 

president opposed “secret diplomacy” and insisted that all business be done with the State 

Department and its Secretary Cyrus Vance.
41

 

 It is apparent that from Dobrynin’s point of view, the American-Soviet 

relationship no longer possessed empathy by the time of the March, 1977 meeting.  The 

Americans did not understand that the Soviets felt they had neither been consulted nor 

respected when Vance made a new arms control offer.  The agenda and the proposals 
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stemming from that agenda had been created by the US.
42

  As Dobrynin put it, “If we 

want to understand the fight we had for years with your administration, we have to look 

at your agenda.  Wrongly or rightly, that is how we saw things.  That’s why we were so 

angry, and didn’t even want to discuss your proposals.”
43

 

 However, there was plenty of blame to go around.  At the same 1994 conference, 

former Secretary of State Cyrus Vance expressed his frustration at the unequivocal Soviet 

rejection of the American proposal in 1977:  

The problem that really arose, it seems to me, was that when we put our 

proposals on the table, nobody would listen to them, and contrary to usual 

practice, nobody said, ‘Well, let’s sit down and talk about that and see if 

we can find a way to get around this thing.’  We got a wet rag in the face, 

and were told to go home.
44

 

 

President Carter’s stated goal was to eventually rid the world of all nuclear weapons.
45

  

Representatives of his administration believed that they had made an honest attempt at a 

first step towards that objective.  It was then immediately rejected.  Vance called the 

rejection a crucial “tactical mistake” and claimed that several years later Soviet Foreign 

Minister Andrei Gromyko agreed with him.
46

 

 As Blight and Lang explained, even though nuclear arms control “was by far the 

top priority on their mutual agenda,” both sides came away from the March, 1977 summit 

believing that the other was “not serious.”
47

 Regardless of who was to blame, it is 

extremely difficult to imagine such a situation occurring in the days of reliance on the 

backchannel.  The channel was more than a preliminary means of communication.  It 
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facilitated understanding and compromise.  Any new proposal for a radical reduction in 

nuclear arms would have first been discussed between Kissinger and Dobrynin before 

either side presented it at a formal summit meeting.  One of the things which might have 

been discovered was Brezhnev’s strong emotional attachment to the November, 1974, 

Vladivostok Accords.  The Soviet General Secretary believed that the difficulties he 

encountered while getting the Politburo to accept this agreement contributed to the stroke 

he suffered shortly after Vladivostok.
48

  In short, Brezhnev thought he had sacrificed his 

health to forge the deal.
49

  This kind of information could have been shared privately in 

the backchannel before taking any new proposal to either side’s leadership.   

To be very clear, the emphasis in this dissertation on the relationship between 

Kissinger and Dobrynin is not to make a value judgment on them, their politics, or their 

successors.  Nor is it an attempt to blame the collapse of détente entirely on the end of the 

Kissinger-Dobrynin backchannel.  Rather, it is intended to offer a possible explanation 

for the relative success of détente during its early years despite the conflicting American 

and Soviet views of relaxing tensions. 

The concept of empathy in international relations has its critics, however.  After 

all, as Blight and Lang put it, “can anything intelligible and helpful to historians be said 

about a term that means ‘putting yourself in the skin’ of another or ‘putting yourself in 

the shoes of the other?’”
50

  Mark Garrison, part of Vance’s delegation to Moscow in 

March, 1977 conceded, “Blight and Lang are right to point out the importance of 

empathy in the failures of the Carter-Brezhnev period.  The usefulness of understanding 

where the other side is coming from is widely accepted in principle but not easy to put 
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into practice.”
51

 On the other hand, even if empathy is employed, it can only go so far.  A 

policy maker may determine that there are irreconcilable differences.  If those differences 

are potentially dangerous, “one must be prepared to deal with them by whatever means 

are appropriate,” explained Garrison.
52

   

Garthoff, the US ambassador to Bulgaria at the time of the Vance trip, agreed that 

empathy is often overlooked in international relations.  Empathy is necessary “to 

understand why another party holds views or objectives that sharply conflict with one’s 

own.”
53

  This can empower diplomats to determine how to resolve disputes or if they are 

even solvable.
54

  However, if not just the perceptions but also the objectives of the two 

sides are incompatible then empathy will only confirm this, and not necessarily provide 

any solutions.
55

  Garthoff added that oral history can likewise be useful, but it is not a 

substitute for documents and other written sources.
56

 

As with Garrison and Garthoff, Thomas W. Simons, Jr. was also skeptical about 

the utility of empathy in analyzing international affairs.  Simons, a former Soviet analyst 

in the American embassy in Moscow, noted that there were “third rails” in the U.S.-

Soviet relationship.
57

  For the Soviets it was support for national liberation movements in 

the developing world and for the Americans it was support for human rights.
58

  

Consequently, Simons argued that what happened in March, 1977, was not a failure of 
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empathy, but a failure of policy: “the makings of what it took to understand Soviet 

motives and intentions were present in the U.S. government before the Carter 

administration and throughout the Carter administration, as were the makings in the 

Soviet government of what it took to understand the Carter administration.”
59

  However, 

neither side used that knowledge to craft workable policies because they were more 

concerned with defeating the other in the negotiating process.
60

  “The leaders on both 

sides did not want [italics in original] to do better.”
61

 

 Jack F. Matlock, Jr., deputy chief of mission at the U.S. embassy in Moscow in 

1977, was more receptive to applying empathy to diplomacy.  “New U.S. administrations 

often continue campaign rhetoric after taking office and think more about the impact on 

the U.S. public than on the countries with which they have to deal,” he wrote.
62

  In 

addition, Matlock declared “ignoring the advice of professional diplomats trained to 

understand other societies is folly.”
63

  According to Matlock, if the American embassy 

had been asked, it would have informed Washington that the new arms proposal carried 

by Vance would have had a better chance of being accepted if it had been privately 

presented to the Soviets before any details were made public.
64

  Although this may not 

have required a “backchannel” as in the Kissinger-Dobrynin era, a private meeting of 

ambassadors beforehand would have been constructive.
65

 

Likewise, Robert Pastor, director of Latin American affairs on the National 

Security Council in 1977, agreed with Blight and Lang: “both sides lacked empathy; both 
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sides missed each other.”
66

  The Soviets needed to understand that in 1976 Carter had not 

just run against Ford, but also against Kissinger and his “traditional conservative 

realism.”
67

  For this reason, it was unlikely that Carter would simply pick up where 

Kissinger had left off with the 1974 Vladivostok arms control proposal.
68

  On the other 

hand, Pastor added that Carter did not understand how his pronouncements about human 

rights and eliminating all nuclear weapons caused the Soviets to believe that the new 

president was trying to push them around.
69

 

Even if one does accept the value of relationships and the empathy it helps to 

create, it raises another question.  Does this type of interpretive tool cause the historian to 

focus too heavily on a few individuals, thereby missing the larger picture?  This is a 

possible danger.  After all, not every diplomatic success or failure can be attributed to the 

actions of individuals.  Sometimes, there is simply no common ground between the 

various interests of states.   

Nevertheless, Deborah Welch Larson applied social psychology to make the case 

that sometimes countries fail to reach agreements “even when they have compatible 

preferences.”
70

  This occurs “because policy-makers make incorrect inferences about the 

opponent’s motives and intentions.”
71

  However, states and diplomats who establish a 

relationship over an extended period of time may learn to cooperate despite great 
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differences, because they can empathize with each other’s efforts and recognize the 

potential benefits which can accrue to both sides from sticking things out.
72

    

Differences between state systems can impede this process.  For example, a non-

democratic nation may “inspire distrust of their motives,” but a democratic state can 

“elicit doubts of their resolution.”
73

  In a country with a democratic form of government, 

there is always the possibility of new leadership coming to power at the next election and 

hence a change in policy.
74

  Therefore, the transition from the Nixon/Ford/Kissinger Era 

to the Carter administration may have presented an obstacle to détente not for any 

partisan, personal, or policy reasons, but simply because it represented a break from the 

past where a degree of trust had been established, particularly through the Kissinger-

Dobrynin backchannel.  On the other hand, in a long-term relationship (diplomatically 

speaking) such as the one which occurred between Kissinger and Dobrynin from 1969-

1977, both sides can develop the belief that the other means well, and even “discount or 

overlook the other state’s misdeeds or lies because such evidence is inconsistent with 

[their] image of the state as friendly.”
75

 

According to Larson, one way a nation can establish trust is though “a 

conciliatory gesture” which does not appear to benefit it in any way, and may even be 

potentially detrimental.
76

  Such an action can enhance a nation’s credibility if it is 

“noncontingent,” “irrevocable,” and increases its “vulnerability.”
77
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The early détente period provided an apt example of such a “conciliatory 

gesture.”  Human rights were not on Moscow’s agenda, and the specific issue of 

emigration from the Soviet Union arguably threatened Soviet security with the possibility 

that the government could lose control over its population.  Furthermore, the notion that 

Soviet citizens might want to leave their country was inherently embarrassing for 

Moscow.  Nevertheless, through the Kissinger-Dobrynin channel and without a great deal 

of attention, beginning around 1970 the Soviets gradually increased the number of exit 

visas granted to Soviet Jews.  Meanwhile, the Americans reciprocated by keeping 

discussions of Jewish emigration in the backchannel and not using the issue for 

propaganda purposes.  These early actions undoubtedly contributed to an improved 

climate in Soviet-American relations and helped lead to some of the greatest 

achievements of the détente period. 

For eight years, Kissinger and Dobrynin discussed numerous topics as they built 

détente.  The subjects ranged from arms control to human rights to foreign interventions 

in the developing world.  With each successive crisis they faced, these representatives of 

the two superpowers built a relationship based upon a mutual commitment to relaxing 

tensions and avoiding nuclear war.  A common purpose and shared experience created 

empathy and enabled both to navigate tumultuous diplomatic waters.  After all, they were 

in it together.  It may not even be an exaggeration to say they became friends – they 

clearly became friendly.   

When détente failed, it was because of fundamental ideological differences 

between the United States and the Soviet Union about relationships between states and 

the relationship between a state and its people.  These differences had long been a part of 
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US-Soviet relations, but détente’s early successes had made them seem less significant.  

The inability or unwillingness of the Americans and Soviets to get at the root causes of 

the Cold War may have made the end of détente inevitable.  However, it also 

demonstrated the challenges with which Kissinger and Dobrynin were forced to contend 

over the years.  In this light, their successful “special relationship” was all the more 

noteworthy and provides a case study of the effectiveness of back channels in 

international diplomacy. 
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